
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A.    MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
 
B. ROLL CALL 
 
C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
D. PROCLAMATIONS  
 
E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. March 25, 2019 Regular Session minutes 
2. March 25, 2019 Study Session minutes – Better Together 
 

F. APPOINTMENTS to BOARDS & COMMISSIONS 
 
G. SWEARING IN to BOARDS & COMMISSIONS  

 
H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (Total of 15 minutes allowed) 

 
I. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
J. CONSENT AGENDA – Vote Required 

1. CIP – Westgate Ave. Road Improvements – Engineering Services Contract 
2. Project 1181 - Forsyth Boulevard Improvements 
3. Ackert Walkway Great Rivers Agreement 
4. Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) Study Grant Agreement 

   
K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

 
L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
1. BILL 9383 - AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 400 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE 

OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, RELATING TO ZONING, BY AMENDING 
SECTIONS 400.2010, 400.2070, 400.2130 AND  400.2140 THEREOF,  AND BY ADDING 
400.2145 THEREIN, RELATING TO OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING 
REGULATIONS; CONTAINING A SAVINGS CLAUSE AND PROVIDING A PENALTY. 
 

2. Bill 9384 - AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SCHEDULE III OF THE TRAFFIC CODE, TO 
REVISE TRAFFIC REGULATION AS PROVIDED HEREIN. (Williams Avenue) 

  
M. NEW BUSINESS 

 
RESOLUTIONS 

 
 BILLS 

 
 

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
CITY HALL, Fifth Floor 

 6801 Delmar Blvd. 
University City, Missouri 63130 

Monday, April 8, 2019 
6:30 p.m. 



 
N. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 

1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
2. Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 
3. Boards, Commissions and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 
 

O. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (continued if needed) 
 

P. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
Q. Roll-Call vote to go into a Closed Council Session according to RSMo 610.021 (1)Legal 

actions, causes of action or litigation involving a public governmental body and any 
confidential or privileged communications between a public governmental body or its 
representatives and its attorneys. 

 
R. ADJOURNMENT  



Page 1 of 9 

 
 
 
 
 

A. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER
At the Regular Session of the City Council of University City held on the fifth floor of City Hall, on
Monday, March 25, 2019, Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Carr called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.

Mayor Pro Tem Carr announced that both Mayor Crow and Councilmember Hales have been
excused from tonight's meeting.

B. ROLL CALL
In addition to the Mayor Pro Tem, the following members of Council were present:

Councilmember Stacy Clay  
Councilmember Steven McMahon 
Councilmember Jeffrey Hales; (Excused) 
Councilmember Tim Cusick 
Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 

Also in attendance were City Manager, Gregory Rose, City Attorney, John F. Mulligan, Jr., and 
Mike Williams of Hochschild, Bloom & Company. 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
Mr. Rose requested that the Parking Study; Item J-3 be removed from the Consent Agenda and
placed under the City's Manager's Report as K-2.

Councilmember Cusick moved to approve the agenda as amended, it was seconded by Mr. 
Smotherson and the motion carried unanimously. 

D. PROCLAMATIONS

E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
1. March 11, 2019, Regular Session minutes were moved by Councilmember Clay, it was

seconded by Councilmember Smotherson and the motion carried unanimously.
2. March 11, 2019, Joint Study Session minutes – Loop Special Business District, were moved

by Councilmember Clay, it was seconded by Councilmember Cusick and the motion carried
unanimously.

F. APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS & COMMISSIONS

G. SWEARING IN TO BOARDS & COMMISSIONS
1. Susan Schmalz was sworn into the Park Commission on March 18th in the Clerk’s office.
2. Kathy Straatmann was sworn into the Senior Commission at tonight's meeting.

H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (Total of 15 minutes allowed)
Gabe Angieri, 8633 Mayflower Court, University City, MO
Mr. Angieri stated two years ago he was approached by NOVUS about a potential buy-out, and
at that time there were seventeen well-maintained and occupied homes on his street.

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
CITY HALL, Fifth Floor 

 6801 Delmar Blvd. 
University City, Missouri 63130 

Monday, March 25, 2019 
6:30 p.m. 

E - 1 - 1



 

Page 2 of 9 
 

A year ago, after discussions with former Councilman Rod Jennings, he and his neighbors 
decided to finalize their contracts with NOVUS.  Mr. Jennings informed them that the project had 
the full support of Council and that it would be great for the City's future.  He said if this 
development did not go forward, one could only guess what the next proposal might look like for 
residents in the 3rd Ward.  Mr. Angieri stated his neighborhood has been in limbo for a year 
waiting on the outcome of this process.  And while this is still a nice neighborhood, five homes 
now sit vacant, and it is at risk of collapsing if Council continues to delay this project.   
 The City's gross negligence in pushing forward with a project that had an eight-figure error 
has negatively impacted many residents who are ready to move on with their lives and would 
have benefitted from this redevelopment.  And in his opinion, it's absolutely inconceivable that 
no one from the City has been held accountable for overlooking the massive miscalculations on 
the part of PGAV.  NOVUS has assured him that they are still interested in the project and 
anxious to move forward, but at this point, they only have three weeks before their contracts 
expire.  So he would like to know what the City is going to do to expedite this process.  
 
Sonya Pointer, 8039 Canton Avenue, University City, MO 
Ms. Pointer; a 3rd Ward resident, expressed her opposition to the Olive/I-170 Project and 
requested that Council vote to stop this process and start from scratch to do it the right way.  
The way all of you would have proceeded if this development had been in your ward.  Council 
should have first, asked its residents for their input, and then tried to develop a plan around 
those objectives.  Because this is not just about the loss of homes by people who did not sign 
the contract or the people who have elected to sell their homes, this is about the people in the 
3rd Ward who will be left behind.    
 Ms. Pointer stated it is extremely hypocritical that the City has called out Better Together 
for their failure to devise a plan that does not engage or benefit City and County residents, and 
MSD for their plan to build raw sewage tanks in the 3rd Ward, when it has done the exact same 
thing in its community that you are accusing them of doing.   I feel sorry for the people who are 
in limbo but they have to understand this isn't just about them; this is about the City as a whole. 
 
Leif Johnson, 836 Barkley Square, University City, MO 
Mr. Johnson stated there was a very interesting speaker tonight at Council's Study Session, and 
he asked him why do we now have to have this regional government?  For example, at the end 
of World War II, Chicago produced just about every industrial chemical and manufactured 
goods.  And as the speaker said, there were over 100 municipalities in Chicago at the time and 
that did not seem to inhibit the growth of Chicago; which actually grew unbelievably fast.  And 
that has been true all over the country; they have the nucleus; the city, and surrounding 
municipalities.   The question of economic development is the fact that there were industries 
springing up all over the place and states were becoming richer and richer without any concerns 
about having a metropolitan government.    
 Mr. Johnson stated in his opinion, the only ones that will gain an advantage in this merger 
will be Rex Sinquefield and his associates.  A very strong centralized government would be the 
perfect instrument for rescuing the City of St. Louis and issuing bonds for amusement parks, 
convention centers, stadiums, and things that have always had to have an attached revenue 
stream.  This is a financial scheme.  And he's afraid that if the Freeholders' Plan goes through 
it's going to be the same financial scheme because it will involve the same people who are 
determined to achieve the merger; the Mayor of St. Louis and the County Executive.  So the 
only way we can stop this is by not diverting our efforts on anything else but Rex Sinquefield. 
 
Jerrald Tiers, 7345 Chamberlain, University City, MO 
Mr. Tiers stated it appears as though there has been no further activity with regards to the 
Olive/I-1-70 development that was so highly touted by Council.  There has been nothing new 
posted on the website since January.  There have been no new announcements of progress; 
aside from some references to the nineteen changes the developer made to the Development 
Agreement, also in January, and prior to the mistake being discovered.  So as the clock starts 
running out, this project seems headed towards failure by default.   E - 1 - 2



 

Page 3 of 9 
 

But residents need to know whether this plan is still active.  And if not, why?  They have 
received little to no information on this very important issue.  And the developer's unusual 
stance of speaking out about this publicly at the last Council meeting, rather than in 
negotiations, would seem to indicate that even he has been left out of the loop.  Maybe this is 
exactly why we needed a CBA.   
 Statements made by the Mayor seem to be preparing us for an announcement that 
Council could not agree on a development plan that was good for U City.  When the truth seems 
to be that the developer is good to go; the TIF is sound, and Costco thinks this location is 
perfect and that it can work for U City.  Having them here will not only benefit the City's revenue 
stream, but it will also increase local hiring, provide better sources of income, and encourage 
further development along Delmar and I/1-70.  So, the sticking point appears to be last year's 
tax mistake and some overpromising of monies for the 3rd Ward.  But even if the money is less 
than originally anticipated, U City and the 3rd Ward will still get benefits from this development.  
And given Costco's financials, this should be their most profitable store in the area.  On an 
average yearly basis, they have $164 million dollars in transactions per store.  They are also the 
store most likely to weather the "death of brick and mortar store" storm created by Amazon.  
And it is also his understanding that this will be the last store they are going to build in St. Louis. 
 Mr. Tiers stated this community believes they have elected smart, educated leaders to 
solve this sort of problem.  And now is the time for this Council to provide innovative leadership 
and make this development happen with maximum benefits.  This is your big chance to shine, 
don't let the clock run out.   

 
I. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1. Zoning Code Text Amendment to Article VII - Off-street Parking and Loading Requirements 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Carr opened the Public Hearing at 6:51 p.m., and hearing no requests to speak the 
hearing was closed at 6:51 p.m. 
 

J. CONSENT AGENDA – Vote Required 
1. Capital Improvement Program Amendment – Forsyth Blvd. – ADA Improvements and 

Resurfacing Project. 
2. Capital Improvement Program - Morgan Wilshire Road and Drainage Improvements 

Contract Approval 
3. Parking Study; (Moved to City Manager's Report) 
4. U. S. Department of Justice, Edward Byrne Justice Assistance Grant Program FY 2018 

Local Solicitation 
  

Councilmember Smotherson moved to approve all three items, it was seconded by Councilmember 
Clay and the motion carried unanimously. 
  

K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
1. FY2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report – Hochschild, Bloom & Company LLP 

 
Mr. Rose stated this is a presentation regarding the FY2018 audit and Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report that he is recommending for Council's approval.   
 
Mike Williams stated he is the partner at Hochschild, Bloom & Company who was in charge of the 
City's audit.  So what he would like to do is flip through the Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report issued by his company for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, and highlight some of the 
important factors.   
 
The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report contains audited financial statements, the Auditor's 
Report, and other information related to the audit that is prepared after the audit has been 
completed.   

E - 1 - 3



 

Page 4 of 9 
 

The first section of the report starts with a transmittal letter on U City's letterhead that contains 
information related to the City's financial management controls, economic condition, and outlook.   

• The list of principal officials 
• Organizational chart 
• Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 
  The receipt of a Certificate of Achievement illustrates that the City has gone above and 

beyond the normal audit by submitting all documentation to the Government Finance 
Officers Association; a national association that reviews the report for audit accounting 
standards, information related to the ten-year trend, and statistics.   

 
Financial Section 

• Independent Auditor's Report by Hochschild, Bloom.  (The information, amounts, and 
disclosures being audited are the representations provided by the City.) 

• The City's responsibility 
• The Auditor's responsibility 
• The Auditor's Opinion  
  In the Auditor's opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all 

material respects. 
 
Management's Discussion & Analysis  

• A big picture perspective of the City's assets and liabilities on June 30, 2018, as compared 
to the previous year. 

 
Page 7 

• Governmental activities; general fund, capital, improvement fund, parks & stormwater 
• Business-type activities; Solid Waste and parking funds 
• Total assets  =  $79,483,000  (includes deferred in-flows and out-flows) 
• Total liabilities  =  $22,865,000 
• Net position  =  $57,172,000 
  Total assets include cash, investments, and capital assets, i.e., infrastructure and 

vehicles. 
  The difference between the assets and deferred amount of liabilities are called the net 

position; (retained earnings).   
  Changes between this year and the amounts reported in the previous year have been 

noted. 
 
Page 8 

• Revenues   =  $34,940.00 
• Expenses  =  $35,846.00 
• Net Position   =  (an increase of about $94,000) 
 There is roughly a 5.1% increase in revenues and a .3% increase in expenses  

 
Page 16  

• Assets/General Fund =  $21,289,000 
• Liabilities    =  $3,023,000  
• Fund Balance  =  $17,206,000 

 
Page 18  

• Revenues  =  $24,006,000 
• Expenditures  =  $23,502,000 
 There is a noted improvement in the fund balance amount of roughly $504,000. 

 
Pages 24-25  

• Totals for the pension trust funds; (more details will be provided on pages 45-47) E - 1 - 4



 

Page 5 of 9 
 

 
Page 26  

• Notes to the financial statements - accounting policies 
 
Page 36  

• Notes to the financial statements - cash and investments 
  The State Statute requires that all cash in the bank must be secured by the FDIC or 

pledged collateral.  As of June 30th, the City's bank balances are entirely insured or 
collateralized. 

 
Page 37  

• List of investments as of June 30th 
 
Pages 40-41  

• A schedule of the City's capital assets and related depreciation. 
 
Page 43  

• Long-term debt 
 
Page 45  

• Employee Retirement Benefit Plan; (total pension liability compared to the net position) 
 76.1 percent funded 

 
Page 47 

• List of the various pension plans 
  There is a noted improvement illustrating that the starting position of the net pension 

liability was $7.7 million dollars, and the ending position was $6.2 million dollars. 
  Note F illustrates that the City has successfully implemented the new accounting 

standard requirement associated with its post-employment plan.    
 
Pages 64-65    

• The Original Budget 
• The Final Budget 
• Actual revenues for the year 
 The City is under-budget on its revenues by roughly $263,000 
 Expenditures for the general fund are under-budget by roughly $1,341,000 

 
Pages 87-88  

• Statistical Information comparing this year's information to the previous nine years 
 
Hochschild's Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control and Compliance 

• This separate letter communicates to users of the financial statements that internal controls, 
policies and procedures have been examined.   
  The comments on page 2 discuss the adjustments made by the auditors. 
  The Compliance paragraph states, "The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 

noncompliance that are required to be reported". 
 
Management Letter 

• General information related to the audit, a listing of the adjustments made, comments, and 
recommendations  
  Neither the comments nor recommendations represent any significant deficiencies or 

material weaknesses for the City's management and Finance Department. 
 
Councilmember McMahon moved to approve the report, it was seconded by Councilmember 
Cusick and the motion carried unanimously.   

E - 1 - 5



 

Page 6 of 9 
 

 
Mr. Rose stated he would like to introduce the City's new Director of Parks, Recreation & Forestry, 
Darren Dunkle, and recognize Keith Cole, the Acting Director of Finance.  He stated he is pleased 
to have Mr. Dunkle on board, who comes to U City with twenty-plus years of experience.   
And would like to thank Mr. Cole and his staff for the fantastic job they did gathering all of the 
information needed to conduct the audit.  
 

2. Parking Study 
 

Mr. Rose stated he had asked that this item be removed from the Consent Agenda in order to 
expand the scope of this project by including the 6600 through 6800 blocks of Washington Avenue 
and Kingsbury; Trinity; Kingsland, and Melville, between Washington and Kingsbury.  Staff is 
recommending approval of a $24,000 contract to the Lochmueller Group for the performance of this 
entire study.   
 
Councilmember McMahon moved to approve the Parking Study; it was seconded by 
Councilmember Cusick. 
 
Councilmember Cusick moved to approve the extended Parking Study presented by Mr. Rose, 
seconded by Councilmember McMahon. 
 
Councilmember Cusick asked Mr. Rose if the expanded scope would increase the cost of the 
project?  Sinan Alpasian, Director of Public Works, stated after rechecking the areas his belief is 
that the original intent had been to include these streets in the study and that they had been 
included in the engineer's boundaries.  However, after discussing this with the consultant today, 
they were uncertain whether they had been included, and as a precaution, included an additional 
cost of $1,000.  So although staff's expectation is that it will remain at $24,000, to be on the safe 
side, Council's authorization should be for a $25,000 expenditure.  
 
Voice vote on the motion to expand the scope of the Parking Study carried unanimously. 
 
Voice vote on the motion to approve the Parking Study carried unanimously.   
 

L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
   

M. NEW BUSINESS 
 
RESOLUTIONS 
 
BILLS 
 
     Introduced by Councilmember Cusick 
1. BILL 9383 - AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 400 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF 

THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, RELATING TO ZONING, BY AMENDING SECTIONS 
400.2010, 400.2070, 400.2130 AND  400.2140 THEREOF,  AND BY ADDING 400.2145 
THEREIN, RELATING TO OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING REGULATIONS; 
CONTAINING A SAVINGS CLAUSE AND PROVIDING A PENALTY.  Bill Number 9383 was 
read for the first time. 
 

      Introduced by Councilmember McMahon 
2. Bill 9384 - AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SCHEDULE III OF THE TRAFFIC CODE, TO 

REVISE TRAFFIC REGULATION AS PROVIDED HEREIN. (Williams Avenue)  Bill Number 
9384 was read for the first time. 

E - 1 - 6



 

Page 7 of 9 
 

 
N. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 

1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
2. Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 
3. Boards, Commissions, and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 

Councilmember Smotherson stated he had actually taken some lessons from Councilmember 
Carr and conducted some research to determine when he had made his first request to pave 
Kennedy Street.  And from his notes, it appears to be September of 2018, where he had a 
discussion with Tina Charumilind.  Per the Ordinance, Kennedy is one of those unfinished 
streets where no maintenance is required.  Nevertheless, he would like to bring this request to 
the attention of Mr. Rose, and ask him to address whether this street would qualify for paving 
under the Community Development Block Grant?   
     Councilmember Smotherson stated he was sitting downtown last weekend and noticed 
how the slightest hint of warm weather had brought out such an increased number of scooters 
and robust activities in The Loop.  So, while his hope is that the City and Police are already 
geared up for the bustle, he just wanted to provide a subtle reminder that Spring is here.      
 
Mr. Rose stated staff is in the process of identifying which projects would qualify for the CBG 
funds, so from that perspective your request is timely.  He stated he would report back to 
Council with any recommendations after he has received guidance from the Public Works 
Director on whether Kennedy qualifies under the grant, and if so, what type of improvements 
could be made.  
    With respect to the scooters, currently, the City does not have an agreement with any 
company to operate scooters within the city limits.  So anyone who might be participating in 
this sort of activity is doing so illegally.  Scooters found in the City's right-of-ways will be 
confiscated by City staff and their owners will have to pay a hefty price to get them back.  Mr. 
Rose stated the goal is to present Council with a recommended policy on the operation and 
governance of a privately owned scooter business within the next 60-days. 

 
O. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (continued if needed) 

Ariel Gardner, 8649 Richard Court, University City, MO 
Ms. Gardner stated she is a homeowner in the redevelopment area and a few weeks ago received 
a notification from the County Assessor's office notifying her and her husband that their home value 
had increased.  This was confusing; especially since their understanding was that they lived in a 
blighted area, and they are currently under contract with NOVUS.  Ms. Gardner stated after 
speaking to some of her neighbors she learned that their homes had also increased in value.  And 
when she called the County Assessor's office she was told that several homes had been sold in the 
area at a price that warranted the tax increases.  The Assessor was also completely unaware of 
this being a blighted area.  Her review of the Assessor's website revealed that NOVUS owned four 
homes in RPA-1, one of which was located on her block that had been sold to them for significantly 
higher than the market value.  But since they are under contract, they are prohibited from taking 
advantage of this increase by selling their home on their own and receiving a higher market value.  
 Ms. Gardner stated the list of issues that the City seems to not want to be forthright about with 
homeowners in RPA-1 is another side-effect of its lack of communication and transparency.  
Someone just talked about a flyer that is being distributed by the police to business owners in The 
Loop regarding an influx of crime.  But where is that same kind of outreach for those of us in RPA-1 
who has been forced to deal with issues that not everyone is equipped to handle?  Our elected 
leaders are the ones that are supposed to be advocating on our behalf.   Yet, here we are 
wondering if the City ever had any intent to notify us about these increased personal property taxes 
created by NOVUS for the sole purpose of augmenting this development?  Or whether the City has 
any plans to help its residents who are now caught up in a situation that seems totally unfair?  The 
longer this City takes to drag out this process, the more negative side-affects residents are going to 
experience.    

E - 1 - 7



 

Page 8 of 9 
 

 
Aren Ginsberg, 430 West Point Court, University City, MO 
Ms. Ginsberg reported that U City's community cat advocates had a productive meeting with Mr. 
Cross last Friday.  They discussed how a community-based trap, neuter, vaccine, and return 
program can be a safe, cost-efficient, and human solution to pet overpopulation.  She stated they 
appreciate the opportunity to partner with the Community Development Department to help 
stabilize and reduce U City's feral cat population through an officially sanctioned TNR Program. 
 
Tom Sullivan, 751 Syracuse, University City, MO 
Mr. Sullivan stated he is filling a complaint against the U City Library and friends of the Library with 
the MO Ethics Commission for running a campaign in support of Proposition L without filing the 
necessary paperwork or campaign finance reports, as the law requires.  In addition, the materials 
being distributed do not properly identify the group, the name of the treasurer or provide an 
address.  His belief is that this is a deceptive campaign in that it does not mention the 49 percent 
property tax increase that will take place if Prop L is passed.  Mr. Sullivan stated he attended one of 
the Library's focus group sessions; which are really designed to promote this tax hike. Yet, the 
library has done nothing outside of spending a lot of its resources to support this Proposition.  This 
would not be so surprising if it was U City government or the School District, who have been 
corrupting elections for years by illegally spending thousands of public dollars to print and mail 
campaign material to support their bond issues. 
 The State test scores were released last month and once again, the District is near the 
bottom.   The previous results showed the District as being the fourth worst in the area; these latest 
scores pushed it up a notch to the fifth worst.  And that isn't because the school has improved, it's 
because another school district got worst.  The Superintendent gave the State of the District 
address last month and it is the same one she has given in previous years, and the same one her 
predecessor gave for years.  It will probably be the same one she will be giving in future years 
since there is no reason to believe U City schools will ever improve. 
 Mr. Sullivan stated U City has three big problems that the Costco development won't help 
resolve; awful schools, crime, and a badly managed City Government.  Mr. Rose has made some 
progress, but there is still a long way to go.  However, destroying businesses and homes in the 
Olive/I-1-70 area certainly will not move us in the right direction.   
 
Jan Adams, 7150 Cambridge Avenue, University City, MO 
Ms. Adams stated Councilmember Carr is not a lawyer, so her attempt at offering a legal opinion in 
her newsletter and published letter to the editor of the St. Louis Post Dispatch, is without expertise 
or authority.  If she is simply articulating the opinion of our City Attorney then this form of 
communication is unethical.  And if this is actually the opinion of Mr. Mulligan then he needs to own 
it, and publish that signed opinion for the taxpayers who are paying his bills.  Why is this important 
to citizens?  Because if Ms. Carr and/or Mr. Mulligan are wrong, and they continue to proceed, in 
spite of the warnings from Attorney, Charles Hatfield, then Mr. Hatfield's client could sue the City 
and its agents.  And we, the taxpayers, could end up paying thousands of dollars to defend these 
City officials.  Although, if Mr. Mulligan is found to be wrong; he cannot ethically charge taxpayers 
the cost of his defense.   
 Ms. Adams stated there is a simple resolution to this issue.  Once a formal request is 
submitted, the Attorney General of MO will research this dispute and publish his opinion free of 
charge.   Therefore, she would urge this Council to direct the City Manager to immediately submit 
such a request to the Attorney General.  In the meantime, this Council should not authorize any 
expenditure of City funds related to the proposed Better Together merger.  This Council would not 
be fulfilling its fiduciary duty to be prudent stewards of its taxpayers' funds by exposing the City to 
the risk of further lawsuits after they have been put on notice by an experienced lawyer whose 
client is likely to be well financed and can afford to outspend any city lawyers.   (Ms. Adams asked 
that her written comments be made a part of the minutes.) 

E - 1 - 8



 

Page 9 of 9 
 

 
P. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Councilmember Cusick reminded everyone that a week from tomorrow is Election Day for 
municipal elections, and as a private individual, and resident of U City that loves its library, he will 
be voting in favor of Proposition L.  So he would encourage everyone to do their research and 
support U City's public library. 
 Councilmember Cusick stated if anyone is interested in signing the Freeholders' 
Petition they should see him after this meeting. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Carr made the following announcements: 

• Tomorrow, U City in Bloom will be sponsoring "Eat Pizza to Raise Dough" at Dewey's, from 
4 p.m. to 10 p.m.  Twenty percent of the proceeds will be donated to U City in Bloom. 

• This Saturday U City in Bloom will have their volunteer orientation and open house at the 
Mary Fahey Pavilion located at 6860 Vernon, from 10 a.m. to 12 a.m. 

• U City in Bloom's annual plant sale will be held on April 26th and 28th. 
 

Councilmember McMahon moved to adjourn the meeting, it was seconded by Councilmember 
Smotherson and the motion carried unanimously. 

 
Q. ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Pro Tem Carr closed the Regular City Council Meeting at 7:35 p.m. 
 
 
LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 

E - 1 - 9



E - 1 - 10



E - 1 - 11



E - 1 - 12



E - 1 - 13



E - 1 - 14



E - 1 - 15



E - 1 - 16



Page 1 of 6 

STUDY SESSION 
OF THE UNIVERSITY CITY COUNCIL 

5th Floor of City Hall 
6801 Delmar 

March 25, 2019 

AGENDA 
Requested by the City Manager 

1. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER
The City Council Study Session was held in Council Chambers on the fifth floor of City
Hall, on Monday, March 25, 2019.  Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Carr called the Study
Session to order at 5:30 p.m.

In addition to the Mayor Pro Tem, the following members of Council were present:

Councilmember Steven McMahon 
Councilmember Paulette Carr 
Councilmember Jeffrey Hales; (Excused) 
Councilmember Tim Cusick 
Councilmember Stacy Clay 
Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 

Also in attendance was City Manager, Gregory Rose; City Attorney, John F. Mulligan Jr., 
and Dr. Terry Jones, Professor Emeritus of Political Science & Public Policy and 
administration, UMSL 

2. CHANGES TO REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA
Mr. Rose requested that the Parking Study; Item J-3 be removed from the Consent
Agenda and placed under the City's Manager's Report as K-2.

3. Better Together Presentation
Mr. Rose stated before Council tonight is a presentation on the Better Together Plan by
Dr. Terry Jones, a Professor at UMSL and Co-Director of the Best Leadership St. Louis
Class in 2000.

Dr. Jones noted that Councilmember Clay and the former Mayor, Joe Adams were both
graduates of the Leadership Program.  And he has been a citizen of U City for thirty-two
years, which he is proud of because he thinks it is the best city within the Metropolitan
area.

Dr. Jones stated when you tinker with or dramatically change the governmental
structure in a metropolitan area you need to address an emerging reality and embedded
value.  The emerging reality is that we have become a metropolitan nation.  A century
ago about 70 percent of Americans lived on farms or in small towns; we were an agrarian
nation.  In what for human beings is a relatively short period of time, by the mid to late
20th Century, 80 percent of us were living in metropolitan and urbanized areas; and St.
Louis was a part of that change.  That meant we ended up being in a healthy, tense
competition to have a high-quality of life as we compete with other metropolitan areas.
So we need to be thinking about that competition as we make public policies within the
St. Louis Metropolitan area. E - 2 - 1



 

Page 2 of 6 
 

 The embedded value is localism; the fact that in the U.S. we are primarily, 
Jeffersonian Democrats.  We believe in local governments that are close to the people, 
and that are accessible and responsive.  So this debate should not be about regionalism 
versus localism, it should be about the appropriate balance between regionalism and 
localism.  Now if you apply that to the St. Louis Metropolitan area and you look at us in 
comparison to other metropolitan areas in the U.S., it's no surprise that we think of 
ourselves as a shining example of localism; the ability to provide citizens with a wide 
variety of types of local governments in which they would like to live.  What's not so well 
recognized is that we also have a reputation for being a very regional metropolitan area.  
The reason we often don't think of ourselves that way, and sometimes are not labeled 
that way, is because we have not done regionalism through large scale governmental 
consolidation.  That's only one way to do regionalism.  Regionalism is really a dimension 
going all the way from having one government for the entire area, to doing some things 
on a regional basis and building an institution to do that and continue to do things at the 
local level for other services.  That's what we've done.  We, along with Pittsburgh and 
Denver are a model in the U.S. focusing on one regional problem at a time.  That started 
with the Metropolitan Sewer District in 1954, the Zoo/Museum District, the Regional Arts 
Commission, the Convention and Visitor's Bureau, Great Rivers Greenway, and a list of 
others that would be about forty items long.  Putting it another way, about every year or 
two in St. Louis since the mid-1950s we have been doing one more thing in a more 
regional way than we had been doing it.  And many would argue; and certainly, he would, 
that that's the sensible way to go about it.  You're not trying to bite off more than you can 
digest.  You're not taking risks by going from one style of government and then going to 
another that is totally different.   
 The Better Together Plan received a great deal of applause when it was rolled out 
in late January, but a lot of people said then; and appropriately, let's look at those details 
because as the cliché goes, the devil is in the details.  Dr. Jones stated he has three 
areas of concern about the Better Together Plan but does want to make it clear that he is 
not arguing for the status quo as we see it now versus the Better Together Plan.  What 
he is arguing for is that there is a need to do something regionally, so let's look at that 
particular issue and see what we can do.  That's the way we have been doing it, and 
we've been very good at it.  For example: 

• The combination of our public health departments 
• An overarching regional economic development agency 
• A single airport authority 

 
Democratic Norms 
The first issue, and the one that has not necessarily received as much attention as the 
second issue; the state-wide vote for what is essentially a local issue, is the way in which 
the plan goes about ruining, or even ending, Charter Governments.    
 The citizens of U City, approximately twenty other cities in St. Louis County, 
citizens under the County government and the City of St. Louis, all have Charters.  They 
are all home-rule entities.  That means they have a Constitution.  And how was that 
Constitution developed?  In every case, it was citizen-driven and citizen approved.  The 
citizens considered whether or not they wanted to have a Charter, they elected citizens to 
draft a plan, they decided whether they liked the plan, and if they did, they voted the plan 
in.  That's how we changed our State Constitution in the 1940s, and if we were to do it 
again, we would have a state-wide vote to consider doing it.   

E - 2 - 2



 

Page 3 of 6 
 

We would elect delegates to a Constitutional Convention, we would give them time to 
come up with that Constitution, it would then go back on the ballot and we would vote to 
either approve or disapprove the change.   
 The new Metropolitan City will have a Charter, but who would draft that Charter?  
First of all, many of the things you would find in a Charter, like where the executive 
authority is going to lie; how many members of the legislature there would be; what their 
terms would be; when elections would be held, all of those things are in the amendment.  
But for a lot of the other matters; various kinds of authority and the separation or range of 
that authority, the amendment designates that as of January 1, 2021, it shall be written by 
two people, the County Executive and the Mayor of the City of St. Louis, as opposed to a 
citizen's commission.  Who is going to approve or disapprove that Charter?  Well, the 
new Legislature.  The Metropolitan Council which shall be elected in November of 2022 
has that power, and unless two-thirds of them object, whatever is written by these two 
people, shall become the Charter.  It never goes to a vote of the people.   
 Well, what if the people want to change it?  Well, if what we are seeking to change 
is a part of the Charter contained in the Constitutional Amendment, we will need another 
state-wide Constitutional Amendment to change it because it has already become a part 
of the State Constitution.  If it's a part of the Charter that the County Executive and the 
Mayor drafted, it would require a Charter Amendment.  But a two-thirds vote is required 
to approve a Charter Amendment.  Dr. Jones stated the point he wants to emphasize is 
being locked in.  If it turns out that Better Together's plan is a mistake, undoing that 
mistake is going to take a considerable amount of time and it is going to require 
supermajorities at the State level, the City and the County, in order to do that.  
 The state-wide vote is yet another example of how undemocratic this plan is in 
terms of the State as a whole saying what's going to happen in the County and the City.  
The possibility of a situation where the state-wide vote is positive, and the vote by 
citizens of St. Louis County and the City of St. Louis being negative, is fairly high.  Should 
that happen, we are going to find ourselves in a chaotic period in the first part of the next 
decade trying to figure out what this all means; this government that somebody else has 
voted that we should have.  Eliminating municipal governments?  That's a part of 
American democracy; the ability to form your own government.  The power of the citizens 
to incorporate within the larger now St. Louis City and County vanishes.  Indianapolis did 
not do that.  Louisville did not do that.  Nashville did not do that, and it has not been done 
in the other major mergers that have occurred in recent times.   
 Then there's the matter of what happens to our cities.  Yes, the names will hang 
around and in order to fool the people they will still have a Mayor and City Council, but 
they won't have much authority.  But the City of St. Louis won't vote for anybody.  It will 
become a St. Louis Municipal Corporation with a five-person Board of Directors 
appointed by the Metro Mayor.  That's not Democratic, that's autocratic.  Dr. Jones stated 
he previously talked about the difficulty to undo this, and some might say well, there is a 
part of the Constitution right now; the Board of Freeholders' Provision, Article 6, Section 
30, that would allow us to form another Board of Freeholders after this passes to undo it.  
No.  If you look at the amendment it eliminates that provision so that a path for the 
citizens of the future to change their government will not be available. 
  

E - 2 - 3



 

Page 4 of 6 
 

 
Financial Viability 
Dr. Jones stated he and two of his colleagues, Jim Brasfield from Webster University, 
and Mark Trammell from UMSL, with the advice and input from a variety of governmental 
experts at the practitioner level, are working on an analysis of the finances that will be 
available within the next week, but he would like to point out a couple of things that are 
already pretty obviously deficit. 
 First, the plan claims it could accumulate up to $5 billion dollars worth of savings.  
Well, how did they come up with that $5 billion dollars?  They cut government by a 
considerable margin; a 3 percent cut each year from 2023 to 2032; almost one-third over 
that period.  And they claim there will be enough cost-savings to ensure that they will not 
have to cut services.   
 Dr. Jones stated he doesn't need to tell a city council or a state legislature that that 
does not and cannot happen.  And if you ask what has happened in terms of cost- 
savings with previous mergers in other parts of the country; Louisville, the savings after a 
few years was 1 percent, and then that went away.  The same story happened in 
Indianapolis and Nashville.  There has never been a consolidation that has achieved 
major cost-savings.  But the fact that they are relying on those cost-savings to not have 
any reductions in services before they see whether or not that assumption is valid, they 
reduce taxes by $250 million dollars a year.  The earnings tax, which is approximately 
$200 million dollars, will be completely cut-out by 2032, and they've reduced the County's 
property tax for County purposes, by 50 percent in 2023.  And that tax in the City and the 
County yields approximately $50 million dollars a year.  To cut taxes before you know 
whether those cost-savings are going to be large enough to continue to support your 
services is not solid financial planning.  For government, as well as the private business 
sector, it's a mistake to rely too much on any one revenue source or stream because you 
always run a risk when all of your eggs are in that one basket.  This plan makes sales tax 
a significant item of reliance.  According to the plan's financial projections and pro forma 
budget, about 53 percent of the Metro City budget would be supported by sales tax.   
 
The Process  
You weren't at the table.  He wasn't at the table.  And as one of the twenty national 
specialists in this field, his feelings were not hurt because the other nineteen specialists 
were not at that table either.  They didn't want specialists.  Municipalities offered to be at 
the table; scholars said we could be at the table if you'd like us to be.  But their attitude 
was, no thanks, we don't need you.  There were no public meetings.  And at the meetings 
they did have, nobody said, "What do you think about this way of doing the Charter?  
What do you think about eliminating the earnings tax?"  Those issues were never raised.  
The only question was, "Are you in favor of more regionalism?"  "Yeah, that sounds like a 
good idea."  Well, then that's what we'll do.  After that, the plan was rolled out by late 
morning, and the Petition was filed with the Secretary of State by 3:30 that afternoon.   
 In February they said we're going to make some changes, and they did.  They 
drove down to Jefferson City, filed the changes late Friday afternoon, and by Monday 
morning it was set.  And you've all probably read in the paper this morning that they are 
going to make additional changes, which they filed with the Secretary of State about two 
hours ago.  Without ever asking any of us, or saying, well, we are going to make this 
change, what about some others?  Democratic deliberations about how we should 
govern ourselves should be done by the people, not by an unelected organization that is 
not responsible to the people.   

E - 2 - 4



 

Page 5 of 6 
 

And when you hear the Town Hall meetings, participate in the discussions and you ask 
who is representing Better Together, it's four members of their staff.  You never see the 
people who wrote this; unless it was those four members.  The five-member Task Force 
has not appeared in any public forum and they are not defending it.  So to have a plan 
put forward by a group that is unwilling to come to public sessions, talk to the public, 
defend their plan or even change it, is very, very disappointing. 
 You might say that this has not been a neutral analysis, and it isn't.  But this is the 
depth of the violation of Democratic norms that are occurring through this process.  And 
what's even sadder, is the fact that this is not going to do what it is intended to do, which 
is to make a more human, equitable, and competitive metropolitan area. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Carr asked Dr. Jones for his thoughts on a couple of her observations. 
While it appears as though the Task Force members have disappeared, she has seen 
two attorneys that have represented the changes, Dave Leipholtz and Chris Peper.  So 
the impression she got was that perhaps, their staff was responsible for the writing.  It 
also seems as though they are intransigent about answering questions; specifically with 
regards to the Police Study that they've used.  They acknowledge that the data was 
taken in 2014 and that things have changed significantly, yet, they are still not open to 
discussing those changes and how that might affect the development of their plan.  
 
Dr. Jones stated he knows Dave Leipholtz who he met him through this process.  And 
with the exception of Chris Peper, he knows all of their staff members.  They work for this 
organization and he has no problem with that, but everybody is speculating about who is 
behind the curtain.  But whoever it is, does not come outside of that curtain, so, it's very 
frustrating.  The bottom line is that the plan is issued under the emblem of Better 
Together and therefore, that is the organization responsible for it.   
 
Councilmember Clay thanked Dr. Jones for his presentation.  He stated he is aware there 
have been some conversations about inviting representatives of Better Together to 
participate in a discussion like this and wondered if Mr. Rose had any updates on the 
status of those discussions?  Mr. Rose stated based on the amount of time allocated for 
these sessions it did not seem appropriate to invite Dr. Jones and Better Together at the 
same time.  But if they make a request to participate or if Council desires to reach out to 
them again, he is certainly willing to do that.  Councilmember Clay stated while Council 
can talk more in-depth later, he would like to invite Better Together to U City because he 
thinks it is important to hear from them directly and have the opportunity to ask them 
questions.   
 He stated Council passed a Resolution that took issue with the process that Better 
Together is undertaking.  But personally, he supports the idea of regionalism and thinks 
there are some macro-level issues, i.e., the need for two public health departments, and 
some micro quality of life issues as well, that could potentially be addressed through a 
more regional approach.  For example, the policing in some of the City's neighboring 
communities particularly to the north.  So he thinks there is a regional solution and the 
approach that Dr. Jones articulated; kind of taking it one problem at a time might be a 
great start.  And there might be even more connective consolidation that takes place as 
well.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Carr stated in the February amendment Better Together made two 
changes.   

E - 2 - 5



 

Page 6 of 6 
 

And even though they said it was just technicalities, the first was to nail down the position 
for the County Executive because it had been left as only sickness, death, and 
retirement.  The second was where they actually went after the sales taxes, saying the 
sales taxes that were operative before the election would remain so.  But her thoughts 
were what if the people decided they no longer wanted a sales tax and they could vote to 
say they didn't want them anymore?  And now it seems like they have nailed that down 
too, as if to say you can't take that step back. 
 
Dr. Jones stated in his opinion, there are all sorts of issues that need to be, or will   
almost automatically be litigated if this passes.  For example, his reading of the document 
would say if you had a dedicated tax for one of the services that you are allowed to 
provide; and parks and recreation is one of those services, you could keep that dedicated 
sales tax.  But he would also agree that you could read that differently because, from his 
interpretation of the statute, it is not an open and shut case.  His interpretation on sales 
taxes for other things say economic development is that unless they are pledged as part 
of a sum debt payment or another liability, they will go to Metro City. 
 Dr. Jones stated the reality of the proposal is that Metro City is going to be a very 
powerful entity if this passes and the Metro Mayor of Metro City will be one of the most 
powerful local executives in the United States; in terms of their formal powers.    
 
Councilmember Cusick questioned whether citizens would lose their constitutional right to 
vote on the Charter if the proposal goes through and it is written by the Mayor of St. Louis 
and the County Executive, regardless of whether it is approved by a two-thirds majority of 
the new governing board?  Dr. Jones stated citizens will lose that right as a passage of 
the amendment in November of 2020.   
 
Councilmember Cusick asked Dr. Jones if he would discuss his thoughts about the 
petitions going around to form a Board of Freeholders.  
  
Dr. Jones stated a Board of Freeholders; which is now more appropriately called a Board 
of Electors, would give St. Louis City and County residents, through a transparent 
process that is open to the public and by means of the people that are selected by the 
public as their representatives, an opportunity to debate whether or not they want to 
make some changes in their governmental structure.  So if enough signatures are 
collected for the initiative; 15,000 in the County, and 5,000 in the City, upon approval by a 
majority of the County Council, the County Executive will appoint nine people to the 
Board of Freeholders, the Mayor will implement the same process, and then the 
Governor appoints the nineteenth member.  That Board will have up to one year to 
produce a plan.  So we can have a nice healthy debate about whether public health 
should be combined; whether we should have minimum standards for municipalities, and 
whether or not we want a city reentry into St. Louis County.   That would be a wonderful 
forum in which to do all or some of those things.   

 
4. Adjournment 

Mayor Pro Tem Carr adjourned the Study Session at 6:03 p.m. 

LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 

 
E - 2 - 6



Council Agenda Item Cover 

MEETING DATE:  April 8, 2019         

AGENDA ITEM TITLE:    Westgate Ave Road Improvements – Engineering Services Contract    

AGENDA SECTION:   Consent Agenda 

CAN THIS ITEM BE RESCHEDULED? :    YES 

BACKGROUND REVIEW:   The City of University City has been granted a Surface 
Transportation Program Grant to make improvements to Westgate Ave from Delmar to Olive. The 
proposed improvements include new ADA compliant sidewalks and curb ramps, new roadway 
resurfacing, permeable pavement parking, new paved approaches, improved pavement 
markings, shared used bicycle markings, and improved signage. 

In December 2018, City Council approved the project agreement.  In December 2018, a request 
for qualifications was posted on the MoDOT website to provide design and construction 
engineering services.  In January 2019, staff reviewed qualifications from 15 companies.    

In February 2019, the City narrowed the selection to four companies and held interviews. 
Crawford, Murphy, and Tilly, Inc. (CMT) was chosen to perform design and construction 
engineering services for the Westgate Ave Improvements Project.  The City and Crawford, 
Murphy, and Tilly, Inc. negotiated an Engineering Services Contract, a copy of which is attached. 

The Missouri Department of Transportation set a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) goal 
for this project at 18%. EDSI and TSI Geotechnical, Inc. are DBE certified companies that CMT 
will be subcontracting with to obtain the 18% DBE participation. 

The Engineering Services Contract with Crawford, Murphy, and Tilly, Inc. provides a maximum 
compensation of $236,250.00 as follows: $140,000.00 for design/engineering services, $11,250 
for right of way services, and $85,000.00 for construction engineering services. 

Year Project Phase Contract 
Amount 

City Share (12 
Fund) 

Federal Share 
(22 Fund) 

FY18-19 Design Services $140,000.00  $28,000.00 $112,000.00 
FY19-20 ROW Services $11,250.00  $2,250.00 $9,000.00 
FY20-21 Construction Engineering $85,000.00  17,000.00 $68,000.00 

Total Consulting Services $236,250.00  $47,250.00 $189,000.00 

The City cost share will come from the Capital Improvements Sales Tax Fund (CIP Project 
#19/21-07).  The Federal cost share will come from the Grants Fund.  

RECOMMENDATION: City Manager recommends signing and entering into the Engineering 
Services Contract with the Consultant (Crawford, Murphy, and Tilly, Inc.) J - 1 - 1



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 05/27/2016 

1 
 

SPONSOR: University City, Missouri 
LOCATION:  Westgate Avenue between Delmar Blvd. and Olive Blvd. 
PROJECT: Westgate Avenue Improvements – STP-5402(616) 
 
THIS CONTRACT is between University City, Missouri, hereinafter referred to as the "Local 
Agency", and Crawford, Murphy & Tilly, Inc. (One Memorial Drive, Suite 500 / St. Louis, Missouri 
63102), hereinafter referred to as the "Engineer". 
 
INASMUCH as funds have been made available by the Federal Highway Administration through its 
Surface Transportation Block Grant Program – Suballocated (STP-S), coordinated through the 
Missouri Department of Transportation, the Local Agency intends to improve Westgate Avenue from 
Delmar Boulevard to Olive Boulevard with new ADA compliant sidewalks and curb ramps, new 
roadway resurfacing, permeable pavement parking, new paved approaches, improved pavement 
marking, shared used bicycle markings, improved signage, and other appurtenances and requires 
professional engineering services.  The Engineer will provide the Local Agency with professional 
services hereinafter detailed for the planning, design and construction inspection of the desired 
improvements and the Local Agency will pay the Engineer as provided in this contract.  It is mutually 
agreed as follows: 
 
ARTICLE I – SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
See Attachment A. 
 
ARTICLE II - DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (DBE) REQUIREMENTS: 
 
A. DBE Goal:  The following DBE goal has been established for this Agreement.  The dollar 

value of services and related equipment, supplies, and materials used in furtherance thereof 
which is credited toward this goal will be based on the amount actually paid to DBE firms.  
The goal for the percentage of services to be awarded to DBE firms is 18% of the total 
Agreement dollar value. 

 
B. DBE Participation Obtained by Engineer:  The Engineer has obtained DBE participation, and 

agrees to use DBE firms to complete, 18% of the total services to be performed under this 
Agreement, by dollar value.  The DBE firms which the Engineer shall use, and the type and 
dollar value of the services each DBE will perform, is as follows: 

 
DBE FIRM    PERCENTAGE 
NAME,   CONTRACT OF  
STREET AND  TOTAL $ $ AMOUNT SUBCONTRACT  
COMPLETE TYPE OF VALUE OF TO APPLY DOLLAR VALUE 
MAILING DBE  THE DBE TO TOTAL APPLICABLE TO 
ADDRESS SERVICE SUBCONTRACT DBE GOAL TOTAL GOAL 
 
Engineering Surveying $32,994.00 $30,000.00 90.93% 
Design Source, 
Inc. (EDSI) 

J - 1 - 2



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 05/27/2016 

2 
 

16141 Swingley 
Ridge Rd., Suite 300 
Chesterfield, MO 63017 
 
TSi Geotechnical & $28,030.76 $25,000.00 89.19% 
Geotechnical, Inc. Construction 
1340 North Price Rd. Material Testing              
St. Louis, MO 63132   
  
ARTICLE III-ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
 
The Local Agency reserves the right to request additional work, and changed or unforeseen 
conditions may require changes and work beyond the scope of this contract.  In this event, a 
supplement to this agreement shall be executed and submitted for the approval of MoDOT prior to 
performing the additional or changed work or incurring any additional cost thereof.  Any change in 
compensation will be covered in the supplement. 
 
ARTICLE IV - RESPONSIBILITIES OF LOCAL AGENCY 
 
The Local Agency will cooperate fully with the Engineer in the development of the project, including 
the following: 
 
A. make available all information pertaining to the project which may be in the possession of the 

Local Agency; 
 
B. provide the Engineer with the Local Agency's requirements for the project; 
 
C. make provisions for the Engineer to enter upon property at the project site for the performance 

of his duties; 
 
D. examine all studies and layouts developed by the Engineer, obtain reviews by MoDOT, and 

render decisions thereon in a prompt manner so as not to delay the Engineer; 
 
E. designate a Local Agency's employee to act as Local Agency's Person in Responsible Charge  

under this contract, such person shall have authority to transmit instructions, interpret the 
Local Agency's policies and render decisions with respect to matters covered by this 
agreement (see EPG 136.3); 

 
F. perform appraisals and appraisal review, negotiate with property owners and otherwise 

provide all services in connection with acquiring all right-of-way needed to construct this 
project. 

 
ARTICLE V - PERIOD OF SERVICE 
 
The Engineer will commence work within two weeks after receiving notice to proceed from the Local 
Agency.  The general phases of work will be completed in accordance with the following schedule: 

J - 1 - 3



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 05/27/2016 

3 
 

 
A. PS&E Approval by MODOT shall be completed on December 11, 2020.  
 
B. Construction Phase shall be completed 60 days after construction final completion schedule.  
 
The Local Agency will grant time extensions for delays due to unforeseeable causes beyond the 
control of and without fault or negligence of the Engineer.  Requests for extensions of time shall be 
made in writing by the Engineer, before that phase of work is scheduled to be completed, stating fully 
the events giving rise to the request and justification for the time extension requested.   
 
ARTICLE VI – STANDARDS  
 
The Engineer shall be responsible for working with the Local Agency in determining the appropriate 
design parameters and construction specifications for the project using good engineering judgment 
based on the specific site conditions, Local Agency needs, and guidance provided in the most current 
version of EPG 136 LPA Policy.  If the project is on the state highway system or is a bridge project, 
then the latest version of MoDOT’s Engineering Policy Guide (EPG) and Missouri Standard 
Specifications for Highway Construction shall be used (see EPG 136.7).  The project plans must also 
be in compliance with the latest ADA (Americans with Disabilities Act) Regulations. 
 
ARTICLE VII - COMPENSATION 
 
For services provided under this contract, the Local Agency will compensate the Engineer as follows: 
 
A. For design services, including work through the construction contract award stage, the Local 

Agency will pay the Engineer the actual costs incurred plus a predetermined fixed fee of 
$10,870.57, with a ceiling established for said design services in the amount of 

 $139,988.71, which amount shall not be exceeded. 
 
B. For right-of-way services, the Local Agency will pay the Engineer the 
 actual costs incurred plus a predetermined fixed fee of $652.49, with a ceiling  
 established for said right-of-way services in the amount of $5,764.42, which  
 amount shall not be exceeded. 
 
C. For construction inspection services, the Local Agency will pay the Engineer the 
 actual costs incurred plus a predetermined fixed fee of $7,555.20, with a ceiling  
 established for said inspection services in the amount of $84,987.30, which  
 amount shall not be exceeded. 
 
D. The compensation outlined above has been derived from estimates of cost which are detailed 

in Attachment B.  Any major changes in work, extra work, exceeding of the contract ceiling, 
or change in the predetermined fixed fee will require a supplement to this contract, as covered 
in Article III - ADDITIONAL SERVICES. 

 
E. Actual costs in Sections A, B, and C above are defined as: 
 

J - 1 - 4



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 05/27/2016 

4 
 

  1. Actual payroll salaries paid to employees for time that they are productively 
engaged in work covered by this contract, plus 

 
  2. An amount calculated at 60.81% of actual salaries in Item 1 above for payroll 

additives, including payroll taxes, holiday and vacation pay, sick leave pay, 
insurance benefits, retirement and incentive pay, plus 

 
  3. An amount calculated at 113.28% of actual salaries in Item 1 above for general 

administrative overhead, based on the Engineer's system for allocating indirect 
costs in accordance with sound accounting principles and business practice, 
plus 

 
  4. Other costs directly attributable to the project but not included in the above 

overhead, such as vehicle mileage, meals and lodging, printing, surveying 
expendables, and computer time, plus 

 
  5. Project costs incurred by others on a subcontract basis, said costs to be passed 

through the Engineer on the basis of reasonable and actual cost as invoiced by 
the subcontractors. 

 
E. The rates shown for additives and overhead in Sections VII. D.2 and VII. D.3 above are the 

established Engineer’s overhead rate accepted at the time of contract execution and shall be 
utilized throughout the life of this contract for billing purposes.   

 
F. The payment of costs under this contract will be limited to costs which are allowable under 23 

CFR 172 and 48 CFR 31. 
 
G. METHOD OF PAYMENT - Partial payments for work satisfactorily completed will be 

made to the Engineer upon receipt of itemized invoices by the Local Agency.  Invoices will 
be submitted no more frequently than once every two weeks and must be submitted monthly 
for invoices greater than $10,000. A pro-rated portion of the fixed fee will be paid with each 
invoice.   Upon receipt of the invoice and progress report, the Local Agency will, as 
soon as practical, but not later than 45 days from receipt, pay the Engineer for the services 
rendered, including the proportion of the fixed fee earned as reflected by the estimate of the 
portion of the services completed as shown by the progress report, less partial payments 
previously made. A late payment charge of one and one half percent (1.5%) per month shall 
be assessed for those invoiced amount not paid, through no fault of the Engineer, within 45 
days after the Local Agency’s receipt of the Engineer's invoice.  The Local Agency will not 
be liable for the late payment charge on any invoice which requests payment for costs which 
exceed the proportion of the maximum amount payable earned as reflected by the estimate of 
the portion of the services completed, as shown by the progress report.  The payment, other 
than the fixed fee, will be subject to final audit of actual expenses during the period of the 
Agreement.   

 
 

J - 1 - 5



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 05/27/2016 

5 
 

H. PROPERTY ACCOUNTABILITY - If it becomes necessary to acquire any specialized 
equipment for the performance of this contract, appropriate credit will be given for any 
residual value of said equipment after completion of usage of the equipment. 

 
 
ARTICLE VIII - COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES 
 
The Engineer warrants that he has not employed or retained any company or person, other than a 
bona fide employee working for the Engineer, to solicit or secure this agreement, and that he has not 
paid or agreed to pay any company or person, other than a bona fide employee, any fee, commission, 
percentage, brokerage fee, gifts, or any other consideration, contingent upon or resulting from the 
award or making of this contract.  For breach or violation of this warranty, the Local Agency shall 
have the right to annul this agreement without liability, or in its discretion to deduct from the contract 
price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the full amount of such fee, commission, percentage, 
brokerage fee, gift, or contingent fee, plus reasonable attorney's fees. 
 
ARTICLE IX - SUBLETTING, ASSIGNMENT OR TRANSFER 
 
No portion of the work covered by this contract, except as provided herein, shall be sublet or 
transferred without the written consent of the Local Agency.  The subletting of the work shall in no 
way relieve the Engineer of his primary responsibility for the quality and performance of the work.  It 
is the intention of the Engineer to engage subcontractors for the purposes of:   
 
Sub-Consultant Name   Address   Services 
Engineering  16141 Swingley Ridge Rd., Topographic & 
Design Source,  Suite 300  Right of Way 
Inc. (EDSI)  Chesterfield, MO 63017 Surveys 
   
TSi Geotechnical, Inc. 1340 North Price Rd.       Geotechnical &        
  St. Louis, MO 63132 Construction 
    Material Testing 
 
ARTICLE X - PROFESSIONAL ENDORSEMENT 
 
All plans, specifications and other documents shall be endorsed by the Engineer and shall reflect the 
name and seal of the Professional Engineer endorsing the work.  By signing and sealing the PS&E 
submittals the Engineer of Record will be representing to MoDOT that the design is meeting the 
intent of the federal aid programs. 
 
ARTICLE XI - RETENTION OF RECORDS 
 
The Engineer shall maintain all records, survey notes, design documents, cost and accounting 
records, construction records and other records pertaining to this contract and to the project covered 
by this contract, for a period of not less than three years following final payment by FHWA.  Said 
records shall be made available for inspection by authorized representatives of the Local Agency, 
MoDOT or the federal government during regular working hours at the Engineer's place of business. 

J - 1 - 6



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 05/27/2016 

6 
 

 
ARTICLE XII - OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 
Plans, tracings, maps and specifications prepared under this contract shall be delivered to and become 
the property of the Local Agency upon termination or completion of work.  Basic survey notes, 
design computations and other data prepared under this contract shall be made available to the Local 
Agency upon request.  All such information produced under this contract shall be available for use by 
the Local Agency without restriction or limitation on its use.  If the Local Agency incorporates any 
portion of the work into a project other than that for which it was performed, the Local Agency shall 
save the Engineer harmless from any claims and liabilities resulting from such use. 
 
 
ARTICLE XIII – SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 
 
A. The Local Agency may, without being in breach hereof, suspend or terminate the Engineer's 

services under this Agreement, or any part of them, for cause or for the convenience of the 
Local Agency, upon giving to the Engineer at least fifteen (15) days' prior written notice of 
the effective date thereof.  The Engineer shall not accelerate performance of services during 
the fifteen (15) day period without the express written request of the Local Agency. 

 
B. Should the Agreement be suspended or terminated for the convenience of the Local Agency, 

the Local Agency will pay to the Engineer its costs as set forth in Attachment B including 
actual hours expended prior to such suspension or termination and direct costs as defined in 
this Agreement for services performed by the Engineer, a proportional amount of the fixed fee 
based upon an estimated percentage of Agreement completion, plus reasonable costs incurred 
by the Engineer in suspending or terminating the services.  The payment will make no other 
allowances for damages or anticipated fees or profits.  In the event of a suspension of the 
services, the Engineer's compensation and schedule for performance of services hereunder 
shall be equitably adjusted upon resumption of performance of the services. 

 
C. The Engineer shall remain liable to the Local Agency for any claims or damages occasioned 

by any failure, default, or negligent errors and/or omission in carrying out the provisions of 
this Agreement during its life, including those giving rise to a termination for non-
performance or breach by Engineer.  This liability shall survive and shall not be waived, or 
estopped by final payment under this Agreement. 

 
D. The Engineer shall not be liable for any errors or omissions contained in deliverables which 

are incomplete as a result of a suspension or termination where the Engineer is deprived of the 
opportunity to complete the Engineer's services. 

 
E. Upon the occurrence of any of the following events, the Engineer may suspend performance 

hereunder by giving the Local Agency 30 days advance written notice and may continue such 
suspension until the condition is satisfactorily remedied by the Local Agency.  In the event 
the condition is not remedied within 120 days of the Engineer's original notice, the Engineer 
may terminate this agreement.  

 

J - 1 - 7



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 05/27/2016 

7 
 

   1. Receipt of written notice from the Local Agency that funds are no 
longer available to continue performance.  

 
   2. The Local Agency's persistent failure to make payment to the Engineer 

in a timely manner.  
 
   3. Any material contract breach by the Local Agency. 
 
 
ARTICLE XIV - DECISIONS UNDER THIS CONTRACT 
 
The Local Agency will determine the acceptability of work performed under this contract, and will 
decide all questions which may arise concerning the project.  The Local Agency's decision shall be 
final and conclusive. 
 
ARTICLE XV - SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 
 
The Local Agency and the Engineer agree that this contract and all contracts entered into under the 
provisions of this contract shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their successors and assigns. 
 
ARTICLE XVI - COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 
 
The Engineer shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, and regulations 
applicable to the work, including but not limited to Title VI and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2000d, 2000e), as well as with any applicable titles of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. 12101, et seq.) and non-discrimination clauses incorporated herein, 
and shall procure all licenses and permits necessary for the fulfillment of obligations under this 
contract. 
 
ARTICLE XVII - RESPONSIBILITY FOR CLAIMS AND LIABILITY 
 
The Engineer agrees to save harmless the Local Agency, MoDOT and FHWA from all claims and 
liability due to his negligent acts or the negligent acts of his employees, agents or subcontractors. 
 
ARTICLE XVIII - NONDISCRIMINATION 
 
The Engineer, with regard to the work performed by it after award and prior to completion of the 
contract work, will not discriminate on the ground of race, color or national origin in the selection 
and retention of subcontractors.  The Engineer will comply with state and federal related to 
nondiscrimination, including but not limited to Title VI and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 
as amended (42 U.S.C. 2000d, 2000e), as well as with any applicable titles of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. 12101, et seq.).  More specifically, the Engineer will comply with the 
regulations of the Department of Transportation relative to nondiscrimination in federally assisted 
programs of the Department of Transportation, as contained in 49 CFR 21 through Appendix H and 
23 CFR 710.405 which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this contract.  In all 
solicitations either by competitive bidding or negotiation made by the Engineer for work to be 

J - 1 - 8



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 05/27/2016 

8 
 

performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials or equipment, each potential 
subcontractor or supplier shall be notified by the Engineer's obligations under this contract and the 
regulations relative to non-discrimination on the ground of color, race or national origin. 
 
ARTICLE XIX – LOBBY CERTIFICATION 
CERTIFICATION ON LOBBYING:  Since federal funds are being used for this agreement, the 
Engineer's signature on this agreement constitutes the execution of all certifications on lobbying 
which are required by 49 C.F.R. Part 20 including Appendix A and B to Part 20.  Engineer agrees to 
abide by all certification or disclosure requirements in 49 C.F.R. Part 20 which are incorporated 
herein by reference. 
 
ARTICLE XX – INSURANCE 
 
A. The Engineer shall maintain commercial general liability, automobile liability, and worker’s 

compensation and employer’s liability insurance in full force and effect to protect the 
Engineer from claims under Worker’s Compensation Acts, claims for damages for personal 
injury or death, and for damages to property arising from the negligent acts, errors, or 
omissions of the Engineer and its employees, agents, and Subconsultants in the performance 
of the services covered by this Agreement, including, without limitation, risks insured against 
in commercial general liability policies. 

 
B. The Engineer shall also maintain professional liability insurance to protect the Engineer 

against the negligent acts, errors, or omissions of the Engineer and those for whom it is 
legally responsible, arising out of the performance of professional services under this 
Agreement. 

 
C. The Engineer's insurance coverage shall be for not less than the following limits of liability: 
 
   1. Commercial General Liability:  $500,000 per person up to $3,000,000 

per occurrence; 
 
   2. Automobile Liability:  $500,000 per person up to $3,000,000 per 

occurrence; 
   3. Worker's Compensation in accordance with the statutory limits; and 

Employer’s Liability: $1,000,000; and  
 
   4. Professional (“Errors and Omissions”) Liability:  $1,000,000, each 

claim and in the annual aggregate. 
 
D. The Engineer shall, upon request at any time, provide the Local Agency with certificates of 

insurance evidencing the Engineer’s commercial general or professional liability (“Errors and 
Omissions”) policies and evidencing that they and all other required insurance are in effect as 
to the services under this Agreement. 

 
E. Any insurance policy required as specified in (ARTICLE XX) shall be written by a company 

which is incorporated in the United States of America or is based in the United States of 

J - 1 - 9



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 05/27/2016 

9 
 

America.  Each insurance policy must be issued by a company authorized to issue such 
insurance in the State of Missouri.   

 
 
ARTICLE XXI - ATTACHMENTS 
 
The following exhibits are attached hereto and are hereby made part of this contract: 
 
 Attachment A – Scope of Service  
 
 Attachment B - Estimate of Cost 
 
 Attachment C - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other 
   Responsibility Matters - Primary Covered Transactions. 
 
 Attachment D - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Ineligibility and 

Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions. 
 
 Attachment E – DBE Contract Provisions 
 
 Attachment F – Fig. 136.4.15 Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

J - 1 - 10



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 05/27/2016 

10 
 

Executed by the Engineer this _____ day of _______________, 2019. 
 
Executed by the City  this __ day of ______________, 2019. 
 
 
  FOR: UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
     
 
  BY: ___________________________________________________ 
     Gregory Rose, City Manager 
 
 
 
ATTEST: __________________________ 
     LaRette Reese, City Clerk 
 
 
  FOR: CRAWFORD, MURPHY & TILLY, INC. 
 
  BY:  _________________________________________________ 
      Dan Meckes 
      President 
 
 
ATTEST: __________________________ 
   Kevin Fuller 
   Office Manager 
 
I hereby certify under Section 50.660 RSMo there is either:  (1) a balance of funds, otherwise 
unencumbered, to the credit of the appropriation to which the obligation contained herein is 
chargeable, and a cash balance otherwise unencumbered, in the Treasury, to the credit of the fund 
from which payment is to be made, each sufficient to meet the obligation contained herein; or  (2) 
bonds or taxes have been authorized by vote of the people and there is a sufficient unencumbered 
amount of the bonds yet to be sold or of the taxes levied and yet to be collected to meet the obligation 
in case there is not a sufficient unencumbered cash balance in the treasury. 
 
 
 
   _____________________________________________________________ 

CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

J - 1 - 11



ATTACHMENT “A” 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
 

3/12/2019  

 
INDEX 

 
 ITEM PAGE 
 
PE - Task 1 - Data Collection ..................................................................................................... 1 

PE - Task 2 - Topographic And Right-Of-Way Surveys ............................................................. 1 

PE - Task 3 - Conceptual Planning ............................................................................................ 3 

PE - Task 4 - Preliminary Plans (50%) ....................................................................................... 3 

PE - Task 5 - Right-Of-Way Plans (70%) ................................................................................... 4 

PE - Task 6 - Draft Final Plans (95%) ........................................................................................ 5 

PE - Task 7 - Final Plans And Bidding Phase (100%) ................................................................ 6 

PE - Task 8 - Utility Coordination ............................................................................................... 7 

PE - Task 9 - Geotechnical Work ............................................................................................... 7 

PE - Task 10 - Project Management / Administration ................................................................. 8 

ROW - Task 1 – Right Of Way Acquisition ................................................................................ 8 

CE - Task 1 – Construction Phase Services .............................................................................. 9 

Exclusions To The Scope Of Services ......................................................................................11 

 
  

J - 1 - 12



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 1  
 

Specific tasks are outlined below: 
 
PE - TASK 1 - DATA COLLECTION  
 
Summary:  Before developing plans, acquire/review available data pertaining to the project: 
 

1. Review project information from TIP Application. 
2. Obtain and review record plans / drawings provided by City. 
3. Obtain and review GIS data / ordinance provided by City. 
4. Obtain and review previous studies / reports provided by City 
5. Obtain and incorporate available aerial mapping for purposes of supplementing 

design and accompanying public involvement exhibits. 
6. Obtain and review available topographic / digital terrain data provided by the City. 
7. Obtain and review available computer files from other jurisdictional agencies that 

may be utilized during the design phase. 
8. Walk the site with the City and EDSI. 
9. Collect, collate and scan all data assembled and provide sub consultants with an 

electronic copy of the information to be utilized in preparation and completion of 
each of their respective design tasks. 

 
Owner-Provided Items: 
 Record plans / drawings 
 GIS utility data 
 Studies and reports in project area 
 Future development plans, if applicable 
 Aerial Photography obtained through GIS database 
 Topographic and digital terrain data (if any) 
 
Meetings: 
 City project kickoff meeting with the City 
 CMT project kickoff meeting with sub consultants 
 
 
PE - TASK 2 - TOPOGRAPHIC AND RIGHT-OF-WAY SURVEYS 
 
Summary:  Field survey activities will be required for the limits included in the General Project 
Information.  Below is a summary of the subtasks that will be included in Task 2.   

 
Refer to SURVEY LIMITS EXHIBIT provided for coverage area.  Subconsultant, EDSI, Inc., will 
perform the surveying. 

 
TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY ITEMS 
 

1. Establish horizontal and vertical control points, as required.  Vertical control will be 
NAVD 88 Datum.  A Reference Tie Drawing shall be included with three-point ties. 

2. Topographic survey shall consist of all pertinent topographic features including, but 
not limited to, existing drainage and sanitary structures (all pipes, types, flowlines, 
sizes), all identifiable utility locations and equipment, all trees 6 inches above in 

J - 1 - 13



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 2  
 

diameter (include size and type), clumps of trees, bushes and/or vegetation, 
mailboxes, retaining walls, steps, buildings, crown of pavements, edge of 
pavements, types of pavement, face of curbs, back of curbs, gutter lines, thorough 
driveway pavements and profiles, pavement markings, signal equipment, drainage 
ditches, and miscellaneous property features inside survey limits. 

3. Cross sections shall be provided at least every twenty-five feet (minimum), but 
more as needed to secure an accurate survey, in addition to low points, high 
points, driveways, beginning/ending locations of existing walls, nonstandard 
sections and other critical locations determined in a survey walkthrough meeting. 

4. Establish accurate existing pavement and sidewalk grades.  In particular, at each 
intersection and driveway, over-emphasis the number of survey shots in order to 
design for curb ramps and ADA crosswalks. 

5. Coordinate with utility engineer on underground utility one-call locates. 
6. Utility survey shall include aerial power & communication line layout. 
7. Include shots on all existing sign posts, label sign post type, measure sign sizes, 

take photographs and number each sign. 
8. Survey drainage structures one reach upstream from the survey limits. 
9. During design, pick up horizontal and vertical locations of any utility exploration 

(potholed or exposed utility lines).  Assume 8 locations.   
10. Work with CMT’s utility engineer to locate utilities within the project limits. 

 
RIGHT-OF-WAY / PROPERTY SURVEY ITEMS 
 

11. Locate existing right of way, property lines and pertinent section lines. 
12. Clearly identify all line work in drawing with text (i.e. property lines (PL), section 

lines, quarter-quarter section lines, existing r/w, existing easements, etc. 
13. Research for each property within the project limits shall include property owner 

name, assessor’s map number, deed book and page, and existing size of parcel in 
square feet. 

14. All property lines shall have a bearing (to the nearest second) and a length (to the 
nearest hundredth of a foot) shown and the parcel closed within acceptable 
tolerances governed by the State of Missouri. 

15. Provide approximately 27 descriptions for temporary construction easements. 
 
CAD files (Microstation format) required to follow MoDOT standard symbology and placed in 
the Missouri Modified State Plane (NAVD88/Missouri East) coordinate system. 

 
PE Task 2 Deliverables: 
 Existing topographic drawing in 3D format 
 Existing right-of-way/property drawing in 2D format (preliminary and final) 
 Existing utility drawing in 2D format (separate from the topographic drawing) 
 Existing points drawing in 3D format and point file in ASCII format 
 Existing contours drawing in 3D format (major – 5 foot, minor – 1 foot) 
 Existing digital terrain model in .TIN format 
 Benchmarks drawing in 3D format 
 Control points drawing in 3D format with 3 point-ties 
 Approximately 27 descriptions for temporary construction easements 
 Submit all deliverables in accordance with the survey schedule 

J - 1 - 14



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 3  
 

 
Owner-Provided Items: 
 Contact property owners with notification before survey work begins 
 Address listing of property owners 
 Title Work to be provided by the City, if needed (see exclusion to scope of services) 
 
Meetings: 
 CMT Kickoff Meeting 
 Survey Walkthrough Meeting before beginning survey 
 One additional meeting to be determined 
 
PE - TASK 3 - CONCEPTUAL PLANNING 
 
Summary:  Develop baseline plan and estimate.   
 

1. Incorporate data collection information and information learned from the kickoff 
meetings and project walk-throughs to come up with a baseline. 

2. Concept typical sections development. 
3. Concept plan view development. 
4. Concept permeable parking options. 
5. Concept estimate refinement. 
6. Incorporate Washington University’s Lighting Design into project. 
7. Complete initial NEPA form (request for environmental services). 

 
PE Task 3 Deliverables: 
 Baseline Preferred Typical Sections 
 Baseline Concept Plan 
 Baseline Concept Estimate 
 Baseline Design Criteria Memorandum 
 Conceptual permeable parking options 
 Submit NEPA identification form within 21 days of notice to proceed 
 
Meetings: 
 Conceptual Plan Review Meeting (before beginning preliminary plans) 
 
PE - TASK 4 - PRELIMINARY PLANS (50%) 
 
Summary:  Prepare preliminary engineering plans based upon the baseline plan.  Preliminary 
plans shall include horizontal alignment, vertical alignment, basic roadway geometrics, 
pavement structure quantities, sidewalk/ADA plan, pavement marking plan, driveway design, 
retaining wall locations (if any), potential tree removal locations, working cross sections, 
working drainage plan, working permeable parking pavement plan, temporary construction 
easement takings, construction cost estimates, and required environmental work. 
 

1. Preliminary plan view, profile view and geometrics 
2. Preliminary pavement structure analysis 
3. Preliminary roadside design 
4. Preliminary drainage design 

J - 1 - 15



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 4  
 

5. Preliminary permeable parking design 
6. Preliminary lighting design incorporated from Washington University 
7. Title Sheet 
8. Typical Sections (preferred pavement rehabilitation solution coordinated with City) 
9. Plan Sheets (20 scale) 
10. Profile Sheets (20/5 scale) 
11. Existing Utility Sheets (20 scale) 
12. Preliminary Special Sheets (Intersection Details, Retaining Wall Details (if any), 

etc.) 
13. Preliminary Permeable Parking Detail Sheets 
14. Working Cross Sections at 25-foot intervals, including driveways and side streets 
15. Preliminary cost estimates 
16. Submit to MSD for project number 
17. Complete all required NEPA documents for approval (assume a CE-2) 
18. Coordinate with utility engineer 
19. Follow City and MoDOT Local Roads checklist for preliminary plans 
20. Create public open house exhibits 
21. Attend public open house 

 
PE Task 4 Deliverables: 
 NEPA documents (CE-2) before 35% plans are completed 
 Preliminary Plans, Cost Estimates 
 Electronic Deliverables to MoDOT Local Roads 
 Public open house exhibits  
 Hard copies as requested 

 
Owner-Provided Items: 
 Lead coordination with MoDOT Local Roads 
 Lead coordination with property owners 
 Assist in completion of CE-2 document 

 
Meetings: 
 Pre-preliminary engineer walk-through – analysis of cross sections 
 Preliminary Plan Field Check Meeting (after plans are reviewed by City and MoDOT) 
 Public Open House Meeting (follows MoDOT LPA guidelines for public information meeting) 
 
PE - TASK 5 - RIGHT-OF-WAY PLANS (70%) 
 
Summary:  Prepare right-of-way plans and the necessary legal documents for the City to 
obtain required temporary construction easements needed to construct the project.  Following 
preliminary plan approval, CMT will incorporate City comments into the right-of-way design.  
CMT will submit right-of-way documents to the City for approval. 
 

1. Revise preliminary plans based upon preliminary plan comments. 
2. Incorporate public open house / property owner meeting comments (as approved). 
3. Incorporate test hole results into retaining wall (if any) / drainage design / 

permeable parking pavement. 

J - 1 - 16



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 5  
 

4. Incorporate utility plans of adjustments needed.  Coordinate with drainage, 
retaining walls (if any), permeable parking pavement, and roadside elements. 

5. Adjust preliminary cost estimate. 
6. Receive tentative approval of right-of-way plans before developing temporary 

construction easement descriptions.  
7. Revise right-of-way plans (4 times) due to negotiations of donations. 
8. Follow City and MoDOT Local Roads checklists for right-of-way plans. 
 

PE Task 5 Deliverables: 
 Right-of-Way Plans 
 Updated Cost Estimate 
 Descriptions of temporary construction easements of affected parcels 
 Negotiation Changes 
 Electronic Deliverables to MoDOT Local Roads 
 Hard copies as requested 
 
Meetings: 
 Property Owner Meetings (assume 4) 
 Right-of-Way Field Check Meeting 
 Right-of-way walk-through meeting 
 
PE - TASK 6 - DRAFT FINAL PLANS (95%) 
 
Summary:  Prepare draft final plans and contract documents for bidding.  Following completion 
of the right-of-way negotiations, CMT will incorporate City comments into the draft final design.  
Draft final plans shall include:   
 

1. Incorporate remaining right-of-way negotiation changes. 
2. Incorporate remaining public comments. 
3. Title Sheet 
4. Typical Sections 
5. Quantity Sheets 
6. Plan Sheets (20 scale) 
7. Profile Sheets (20/5 scale) 
8. Reference Point Sheets 
9. Coordinate Point Sheets 
10. Utility Sheets (20 scale) 
11. Special Sheets – Intersection Staking, Curb Ramp Details, Drainage Details, 

permeable parking details, Retaining Walls (if any)  
12. Lighting sheets (from Washington University) 
13. Traffic Control Plan Sheets (50 scale) 
14. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan Sheets (50 scale) 
15. Pavement Marking Plan Sheets (50 scale) 
16. Signing Plan Sheets (50 scale) 
17. Culvert Section Sheets 
18. Cross Section Sheets 
19. Draft Final Cost Estimates 
20. Draft Final Job Special Provisions 

J - 1 - 17



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 6  
 

21. Draft Final Workday Study 
22. Draft Final Project Specifications Boilerplate 
23. Follow City and MoDOT Local Roads checklists for final plans 
 

PE Task 6 Deliverables: 
 Draft Final Plans 
 Draft Final Construction Cost Estimates 
 Draft Final Job Special Provisions 
 Draft Final Workday Study 
 Draft Final Project Specifications Boilerplate 
 Land Disturbance Permit (if necessary) 
 Electronic Deliverables to MoDOT Local Roads 
 Hard copies as requested 

 
Owner-Provided Items: 
 Assist in completion of MoDOT Local Roads PS&E Submittal Checklist 

 
Meetings: 
 Final Field Check Meeting 
 
PE - TASK 7 - FINAL PLANS AND BIDDING PHASE (100%) 
 
Summary:  Prepare bidding package upon construction authorization.  CMT will incorporate 
draft final comments into the final plan package. Final plans shall include:   
 

1. Revise draft final plan package based upon draft final comments. 
2. Submit 100% Sealed Bid Package. 
3. Assist in answering Contractor questions before the construction letting. 
 

PE Task 7 Deliverables: 
 Sealed Final Plans 
 Final Construction Cost Estimates 
 Sealed Final Job Special Provisions 
 Final Workday Study 
 Final Project Specifications Boilerplate 
 Electronic Deliverables to MoDOT Local Roads 
 Electronic Microstation Deliverables to Contractor 
 Hard copies as requested 

 
Owner-Provided Items: 
 Updated MoDOT Local Roads PS&E Submittal Checklist 

 
Meetings: 
 Pre-Bid Meeting (if necessary) 
 Bid Opening 
 
 

J - 1 - 18



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 7  
 

PE - TASK 8 - UTILITY COORDINATION 
 
Summary:  Lead the utility coordination effort.  Tasks include:   

 
1. Develop a list of utility contacts for the project area and call to establish project 

awareness. 
2. Call Missouri One-Call to obtain One-Call tickets and work with the utility contacts to 

ensure that the underground facilities are well-marked before the survey begins. 
3. Coordinate with surveyor to complete the utilities’ surveys.  
4. Facilitate / lead the coordination effort to provide strategic utility meetings, if needed. 
5. Work with utilities to determine utility easement requirements, if needed.  
6. Provide plan submittals to utility companies at the preliminary and draft final plan 

stages in order to facilitate utility plans of adjustment. 
7. Coordinate and obtain the plans of adjustments and cost estimates. 
8. Assist City in draft of utility agreements. 
9. Provide a completed utility job special provision. 
10. Provide Letter of Certification for Utilities Status for construction authorization 
11. Assist in answering Contractor questions before the construction letting. 
12. Coordinate with roadway design team. 
 

PE Task 8 Deliverables: 
 Preliminary Utility Plan of Adjustment 
 Preliminary Utility Cost Estimate 
 Proposed Utility Easement Lines, if necessary 
 Any test hole info from utility companies, incorporated into plans 
 Final Utility Plan of Adjustment 
 Final Utility Cost Estimate 
 Final Job Special Provision for Utilities 
 Letter of Certification – Utilities Status 

 
Owner-Provided Items: 
 Establish a utility cost budget in conceptual planning stage 
 Lead the effort in developing and obtaining utility agreements 
 Lead utility-related property owner meetings 

 
Meetings: 
 Meet with Utility Companies on-site 
 
PE - TASK 9 - GEOTECHNICAL WORK 
 
Summary:  Provide geotechnical services to the Owner during the design process.  
Subconsultant, TSi Geotechnical, Inc., will perform the geotechnical work. 
 
See attached TSi Geotechnical’ s geotechnical scope. 
 
PE Task 9 Deliverables: 
 Geotechnical Reports 

 

J - 1 - 19



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 8  
 

Owner-Provided Items: 
 Coordination of approvals with MoDOT Local Roads 
 
PE - TASK 10 - PROJECT MANAGEMENT / ADMINISTRATION 
 
Summary:  Internal project management and administration includes: 
 

1. Develop project manual for team 
2. Develop quality assurance plan 
3. Quality assurance implementation and constructability review 
4. Personnel planning and scheduling control 
5. Coordination with sub consultants 
6. Coordination with City 
7. Preparations / minutes for project meetings 
8. Coordination with MoDOT Local Roads 
9. Monthly progress reports 
10. Correspondence (emails, letters, meeting minutes, phone calls) 
 

PE Task 10 Deliverables: 
 Monthly progress reports 
 Emails 
 Letters 
 Meeting minutes 
 Phone calls 
 
Owner-Provided Items: 
 None 
 
ROW - TASK 1 – RIGHT OF WAY ACQUISITION 
 
Summary:  Assist the City in obtaining any necessary temporary construction easements 
required for the project. 
 

1. Follow the MoDOT Engineering Policy Guide Section 136.8 Local Public Agency 
Land Acquisition to assist the City in obtaining any necessary temporary construction 
easements required for the project. 

2. Assist the City in drafting a letter for each parcel that requires temporary 
construction easements.  It is assumed that each temporary construction easement 
required will be donated by that parcel owner. 

3. After all temporary easements are acquired, assist the City in filling out the “Request 
For Right Of Way Acquisition Authority (A-Date)” letter. 

 
ROW Task 1 Deliverables: 
 Parcel Letters for Temporary Construction Easements 
 Request For Right Of Way Acquisition Authority (A-Date) Letter 

 
Owner-Provided Items: 
 Meet with parcel owners (accompanied by CMT if requested) 

J - 1 - 20



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 9  
 

 Title Work/Conveyance documents to show parcel ownership to be provided by the City 
 Lead coordination with MoDOT Local Roads 
 Lead donation requests with property owners (accompanied by CMT if requested) 
 
CE - TASK 1 – CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES 
 
After award of the construction contract, Crawford, Murphy & Tilly, Inc., hereinafter called the 
CONSULTANT will assist the City of University City, MO hereinafter called the CITY in 
administering the terms of the construction contract between the CITY and their Contractor.  
The CONSULTANT will endeavor to protect the CITY against defects and deficiencies in 
workmanship and materials in work by the Contractor.  However, the furnishing of such project 
representation will not make CONSULTANT responsible for the construction methods and 
procedures used by the Contractor or for the Contractor's failure to perform work in accordance 
with the contract documents.  Any inspection of the work conducted by the CONSULTANT and 
its officers, and employees, whether notice of the results thereof is provided to anyone or not 
provided to anyone, shall neither establish any duty on their part nor create any expectation of a 
duty to anyone, including but not limited to third parties, regarding workplace safety.   
 
The construction phase services for the Westgate Ave Improvements Project includes part time 
construction and materials inspection.       
 
*The following assumption of time required for construction phase services and material testing 
requirements is based on pre-conceptual level plans and quantities.  If the final plans and 
quantities show evidence of increasing the construction phase services scope, the 
CONSULTANT will let the CITY know concurrently with the submittal of the final sealed plans, 
specifications, and estimate.  Furthermore, since the CONSULTANT cannot control the 
Contractor’s number of working days, working operations, and time required to be on-site for 
construction phase services, additional time may be required and additional material testing 
may be required than what was originally assumed; which would be justified in a supplement 
agreement to the original contract with the CITY. 
 
CONSULTANT’s services include the following: 
 

1. Lead/conduct a preconstruction conference to discuss project details with the 
Contractor, with assistance from the City. 

2. CONSULTANT will follow the MoDOT Engineering Policy Guide Section LPA:136.11 
Local Public Agency Construction. 

3. Perform site visits to observe the Contractor's progress and quality of work, and to 
determine if the work conforms to the contract documents.  It is anticipated that survey 
staking and layout will be accomplished by the contractor's forces.  The CONSULTANT 
will accompany City, MoDOT and FHWA representatives on visits of the project site as 
requested.   

4. The CONSULTANT assumes to provide field services on the project an average of 4 
hours per day 5 days per week for 21 weeks of construction, provide 16 hours of field 
staff services following construction completion to finalize the required documentation 
and inspections, and 100 office staff hours for construction support, required submittal 
reviews and documentation, sub-consultant administration, and billings.   

5. Check shop drawings and review schedules and drawings submitted by the Contractor. 

J - 1 - 21



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 10  
 

6. Reject work not conforming to the project documents. Immediately bring to the attention 
of the CITY, failure by the Contractor to comply with a plan or specification requirement, 
any problem, trends toward borderline compliance, or any other occurrence, which may 
be of interest to the CITY as well as all situations incapable of disposition in the field.  
He/she will also be available to attend conferences for the disposition of such matters 
when so requested by the CITY. 

7. Prepare change orders for issuance by the CITY as necessary and assure that proper 
approvals are made prior to work being performed. 

8. Review payrolls, perform wage rate interviews, and other related items called for in the 
contract documents. 

9. Arrange for and review material tests in accordance with the Off-Systems Guide 
Schedule for Federal-Aid Acceptance Sampling and Testing (FAST) table in the LPA 
Manual, review material certifications furnished by Contractor, and arrange for 
laboratory testing of samples.  Independent assurance samples and tests may be 
performed by MoDOT personnel and such sampling and testing is excluded from the 
work to be performed by the CONSULTANT under this contract. 

10. TSi Geotechnical, Inc., a subconsultant to the CONSULTANT, will perform field and 
laboratory testing.  See attached TSi Geotechnical’s construction materials testing 
scope. 

11. Maintain progress diary and other project records, measure and document quantities, 
and review monthly estimates submitted by the Contractor for payments.  Resolve 
quantity differences with the contractor and provide recommendation to the CITY 
regarding payment of the estimate. 

12. Be present during critical construction operations, including but not limited to the 
following: 

a. concrete delivery, placing, and finishing 
b. asphalt placement 
c. work affecting utilities 
d. curb ramp and ADA facility forming 
e. permeable pavement 
f. wall construction (if any) 
g. other major operations  

13. Perform erosion control inspections following any runoff events and at a minimum once 
every 7 days.  Document the erosion control inspections and inform the contractor of 
any deficiencies.  Perform follow up inspections to ensure deficiencies are addressed 
promptly. 

14. Participate in final inspection, provide the CITY with project documentation (diaries, test 
results, certifications, etc.). 

15. Check and approve monthly pay requests from the Contractor and submit to the City for 
approval.  The CITY will process pay requests and send to MoDOT for reimbursement. 

16. Complete monthly construction progress reports to the CITY. 
 

 
 
 

J - 1 - 22



ATTACHMENT “A” 

Scope of Services 

 WESTGATE AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 

Page | 11  
 

 
EXCLUSIONS TO THE SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 Signal design 
 Lighting design (Washington University will supply the design and sheets to incorporate) 
 Traffic studies 
 Noise studies 
 Landscape Architecture 
 SUE test holes for utilities (completed by respective utility companies) 
 Any necessary Title Work/Commitment Documents required (obtained/paid by the City and 

provided to CMT) 
 Plats for any necessary temporary construction easements (descriptions will be provided 

and accompany right-of-way exhibit sheets for any affected parcels) 
 Since it is assumed that all temporary construction easements will be donated, appraisal 

services/wavier valuation of temporary construction easements are excluded 
 Field staking of any proposed temporary construction easements 
 
 

J - 1 - 23



DBE GOAL = 18%

FIRM

CMT

EDSI (DBE)

TSI GEOTECHNICAL (DBE)

TOTAL

ESTIMATED DBE TARGET GOAL BASED ON TOTAL CONTRACT FEE
$61,024.76 / $230,740.43

= 26.45%

FIRM

CMT

EDSI (DBE)

TSI GEOTECHNICAL (DBE)

TOTAL

ESTIMATED DBE TARGET GOAL BASED ON DESIGN FEE
$43,542.41 / $139988.71

= 31.10%

FIRM

CMT

TSI GEOTECHNICAL (DBE)

TOTAL

ESTIMATED DBE TARGET GOAL BASED ON CONSTRUCTION FEE
$17,482.35 / $84,987.30

= 20.57%

Attachment B

$17,482.35

$84,987.30

$96,446.30

$32,994.00

$10,548.41

CONSTRUCTION PHASE

FEE

$67,504.95

$139,988.71

$230,740.43

DESIGN PHASE

FEE

OVERALL FEE SUMMARY

TOTAL CONTRACT

FEE

$169,715.67

$32,994.00

$28,030.76

J - 1 - 24



T
as

k 
N

o.

P
rin

ci
pa

l

P
ro

je
ct

 
E

ng
in

ee
r 

II

P
ro

je
ct

 
E

ng
in

ee
r 

I

S
en

io
r 

E
ng

in
ee

r 
I

E
ng

in
ee

r 
I

S
en

io
r 

P
la

nn
er

 I

S
en

io
r 

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

I

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

II

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

I

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e

/A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

A
ss

is
ta

nt

T
ot

al
 H

ou
rs

La
bo

r 
C

os
ts

PE-1

1 Review project information from TIP Application 1 1

2 Obtain/review record plans and dwgs from City 1 1 2

3 Obtain/review GIS/ordinance data from City 1 1 2

4 Obtain/review previous/reports studies by City 1 1

5 Obtain/incorporate aerial mapping 1 1 2

6 Obtain/review topo/digital terrain data 1 1 2

7 Obtain/review files from other jurisdictional agencies 1 1 2

8 Walk the site with City and EDSI and kickoff meeting 2 2 4

9 Collect, collate,scan all available data for subs 1 1 2 4

Sub Total CMT Hours 0 0 8 2 6 0 0 0 2 2 20

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68

Sub Total CMT Labor Cost $0.00 $0.00 $393.52 $74.70 $179.58 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $49.26 $43.36 $740.42

Task Hours Check 20

PE-2 TOPOGRAPHIC AND RIGHT-OF-WAY SURVEYS

(See EDSI breakdown of hours and tasks)

PE-3 CONCEPTUAL PLANNING

1 Incorporate data collection information 1 1 1 3

2 Concept typical section development 2 4 2 4 12

3 Concept plan view development 4 4 4 4 16

4 Concept permeable parking options 6 12 18 36

5 Concept estimate development / refinement 2 2 2 6

6 Incorporate Washington U Lighting Design 1 1

7 Complete initial NEPA form (RES) 1 1

8 Submit baseline conceptual plan documents 1 1 1 3

9 Conceptual Plan Review Meeting 2 2 4

Sub Total CMT Hours 0 0 19 26 29 0 0 0 8 0 82

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68

Sub Total CMT Labor Cost $0.00 $0.00 $934.61 $971.10 $867.97 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $197.04 $0.00 $2,970.72

Task Hours Check 82

PE-4 PRELIMINARY PLANS (50%)

1 Preliminary plan view, profile view and geometrics 2 14 4 20

2 Preliminary pavement structure analysis 1 1 1 3

3 Preliminary roadside design 2 14 4 20

4 Preliminary drainage design 4 10 14 28

5 Preliminary permeable parking design 14 24 10 48

6 Preliminary lighting design incorporated from Wash U 2 2

7 Title sheet 1 1 2

8 Typical sections 1 2 10 2 15

9 Plan sheets (20 scale) 1 2 6 2 11

10 Profile sheets (20/5 scale) 1 2 2 5

11 Existing utility sheets (20 scale) 2 2 1 5

12 Preliminary special sheets 2 4 20 2 28

13 Preliminary permeable parking detail sheets 4 2 12 4 22

14 Working cross sections 12 28 40

15 Preliminary cost estimate 1 2 2 5

16 Submit plans to MSD for number / review comments 1 1

17 Complete all required NEPA documents (assume CE-2) 6 6 16 28

18 Submit preliminary plan package / review comments 2 2 2 6

19 Follow City and MoDOT LPA checklists 1 1

20 Create open house exhibits 2 2 6 8 18

Task Description

DATA COLLECTION

ATTACHMENT B CMT HOUR DATA AND FEE ESTIMATE (University City Westgate Ave Improvements)

J - 1 - 25



T
as

k 
N

o.

P
rin

ci
pa

l

P
ro

je
ct

 
E

ng
in

ee
r 

II

P
ro

je
ct

 
E

ng
in

ee
r 

I

S
en

io
r 

E
ng

in
ee

r 
I

E
ng

in
ee

r 
I

S
en

io
r 

P
la

nn
er

 I

S
en

io
r 

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

I

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

II

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

I

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e

/A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

A
ss

is
ta

nt

T
ot

al
 H

ou
rs

La
bo

r 
C

os
ts

Task Description

DATA COLLECTION

ATTACHMENT B CMT HOUR DATA AND FEE ESTIMATE (University City Westgate Ave Improvements)

21 Attend public open house 3 3 6

22 Pre-preliminary site walk-through 2 2 4

23 Preliminary field check meeting 2 2 4

Sub Total CMT Hours 0 0 54 102 142 0 0 0 24 0 322

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68

Sub Total CMT Labor Cost $0.00 $0.00 $2,656.26 $3,809.70 $4,250.06 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $591.12 $0.00 $11,307.14

Task Hours Check 322

PE-5 R/W PLANS (70%)

1 Revise Preliminary Plans based on review comments 1 1 1 2 5

2 Incorporate open house / property owner comments 1 2 2 5

3 Incorporate test hole results into retaining wall / drainage 1 2 2 5

4 Incorporate utility plans of adjustment 1 2 2 5

5 Adjust preliminary cost estimate 1 2 2 5

6 Submit right-of-way plans for approval 1 1 1 3

7 Revise right-of-way plans (4 times due to negotiations) 1 1 6 2 10

8 Follow City and MoDOT LPA checklists 1 1

9 Attend 4 property owner meetings (assist City) 4 4

10 Right-of-way walk-through meeting 2 2 4

Sub Total CMT Hours 0 0 14 6 16 0 0 0 11 0 47

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68

Sub Total CMT Labor Cost $0.00 $0.00 $688.66 $224.10 $478.88 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $270.93 $0.00 $1,662.57

Task Hours Check 47

PE-6

1 Incorporate remaining changes from R/W negotiations 1 1 2 4

2 Incorporate remaining public comments 1 1 2

3 Title sheet 1 1 2

4 Typical sections 1 2 4 4 11

5 Quantity sheets 2 10 20 4 36

6 Plan sheets (20 scale) 2 4 4 4 14

7 Profile sheets (20/5 scale) 2 2 4

8 Reference point sheets 1 1 2

9 Coordinate point / Geometric sheets 1 1 2

10 Utility sheets (20 scale) 1 2 2 5

11 Special sheets 2 10 16 6 34

12 Lighting Sheets (from Wash U) 2 4 2 8

13 Traffic control plan (50 scale) 1 2 10 4 17

14 SWPPP (50 scale) 1 6 2 9

15 Pavement marking sheets (50 scale) 1 6 2 9

16 Signing sheets (50 scale) 1 6 2 9

17 Culvert section sheets 1 6 2 9

18 Cross section sheets 2 12 4 18

19 Draft final cost estimate 4 4 4 12

20 Draft final job special provisions 8 6 2 16

21 Draft final work day study 2 2 4

22 Draft final project specifications boilerplate book 12 8 10 30

23 Follow City and MoDOT LPA checklists 1 1

24 Submit draft final PS&E 2 1 1 2 6

25 Final field check meeting 3 3 6

Sub Total CMT Hours 0 0 41 73 113 0 0 0 43 0 270

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68

Sub Total CMT Labor Cost $0.00 $0.00 $2,016.79 $2,726.55 $3,382.09 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,059.09 $0.00 $9,184.52

Task Hours Check 270

DRAFT FINAL PLANS (95%)

J - 1 - 26



T
as

k 
N

o.

P
rin

ci
pa

l

P
ro

je
ct

 
E

ng
in

ee
r 

II

P
ro

je
ct

 
E

ng
in

ee
r 

I

S
en

io
r 

E
ng

in
ee

r 
I

E
ng

in
ee

r 
I

S
en

io
r 

P
la

nn
er

 I

S
en

io
r 

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

I

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

II

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

I

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e

/A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

A
ss

is
ta

nt

T
ot

al
 H

ou
rs

La
bo

r 
C

os
ts

Task Description

DATA COLLECTION

ATTACHMENT B CMT HOUR DATA AND FEE ESTIMATE (University City Westgate Ave Improvements)

PE-7 FINAL PLANS AND BIDDING PHASE (100%)

1 Revise PS&E based upon City/MoDOT comments 2 2 2 6 12

2 Submit 100% sealed bid package 2 1 1 2 6

3 Assist in answering contractors before letting 4 1 1 6

4 Attend pre-bid meeting 2 2

5 Attend bid opening 2 2

Sub Total CMT Hours 0 0 12 4 4 0 0 0 8 0 28

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68

Sub Total CMT Labor Cost $0.00 $0.00 $590.28 $149.40 $119.72 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $197.04 $0.00 $1,056.44

Task Hours Check 28

PE-8 UTILITY COORDINATION

1 Develop list of utility contacts and make phone calls 1 1

2 Call MO One-Call and obtain tickets, ensuring markings 1 1

3 Coordinate with surveyor to complete utility survey 2 2

4 Lead coordination to provide strategic utility meetings 4 4

5 Work with utlities to determine easement requirements 2 2

6 Provide plan submittals to utilities (prelim and draft final) 6 6

7 Coordinate final plans of adjustment / cost estimate 2 2

8 Assist City in draft of utility agreements 4 4

9 Provide final utility job special provision 2 2

10 Provide letter of certification for utilities status 2 2

11 Assist contractors in answering pre-letting questions 1 1

12 Coordinate with roadway design team 4 4

Sub Total CMT Hours 0 0 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 31

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68

Sub Total CMT Labor Cost -$             -$             1,524.89$    -$             -$                 -$                     -$          -$                   -$             -$             1,524.89$        

Task Hours Check 31

PE-9 GEOTECHNICAL WORK

(See TSi Geotechnical breakdown of hours and tasks)

PE-10 PROJECT MANAGEMENT / ADMINISTRATION

1 Develop project manual for team / kickoff meeting 2 1 1 1 2 7

2 Develop quality assurance plan 2 2 2 6

3 Quality assurance implementation and constructability 2 2 4

4 Personnel planning and scheduling control 2 2

5 Coordination with sub consultants 2 2

6 Coordination with City 2 1 1 4

7 Preparations / minutes for project meetings 4 1 1 6

8 Coordination with MoDOT Local Roads 2 1 1 4

9 Monthly progress reports 4 4

10 Corrrespondence (emails, letters, memos) 6 6

Sub Total CMT Hours 0 6 27 4 4 0 0 0 0 4 45

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68

Sub Total CMT Labor Cost $0.00 $377.46 $1,328.13 $149.40 $119.72 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $86.72 $2,061.43

Task Hours Check 45
ROW-1 RIGHT OF WAY ACQUISITION

1 Assist the City in drafting letters for T.C.E. easements 20 20

2 Assist the City in donation requests 14 14

3 Assist the City in drafting A-Date letter 8 8

Sub Total CMT Hours 0 0 0 0 0 42 0 0 0 0 42

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68 J - 1 - 27



T
as

k 
N

o.

P
rin

ci
pa

l

P
ro

je
ct

 
E

ng
in

ee
r 

II

P
ro

je
ct

 
E

ng
in

ee
r 

I

S
en

io
r 

E
ng

in
ee

r 
I

E
ng

in
ee

r 
I

S
en

io
r 

P
la

nn
er

 I

S
en

io
r 

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

I

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

II

T
ec

hn
ic

ia
n 

I

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e

/A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

A
ss

is
ta

nt

T
ot

al
 H

ou
rs

La
bo

r 
C

os
ts

Task Description

DATA COLLECTION

ATTACHMENT B CMT HOUR DATA AND FEE ESTIMATE (University City Westgate Ave Improvements)

Sub Total CMT Labor Cost -$             -$             -$             -$             -$                 1,831.20$            -$          -$                   -$             -$             1,831.20$        

Task Hours Check 42

CE-1 CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES

1 Field Inspection and Documentation (see scope for details) 100 436 536

Sub Total CMT Hours 0 0 100 436 0 0 0 0 0 0 536

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68

Sub Total CMT Labor Cost $0.00 $0.00 $4,919.00 $16,284.60 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $21,203.60

Task Hours Check 536

Total CMT Hours 0 6 306 653 314 42 0 0 96 6 1423

Hourly Salary $77.68 $62.91 $49.19 $37.35 $29.93 $43.60 $35.32 $29.86 $24.63 $21.68

Total CMT Labor Cost $0.00 $377.46 $15,052.14 $24,389.55 $9,398.02 $1,831.20 $0.00 $0.00 $2,364.48 $130.08 $53,542.93
Total Hours Check 1423

CMT FEE SUMMARY

Task Labor Costs
Payroll 

Overhead

General & 
Admin 

Overhead
Profit Direct Costs Total Cost

Services By 
Others

Mileage Misc. Total

60.81% 113.28% 13%
Data Collection $740.42 $450.25 $838.75 $263.82 $11.60 $2,304.84 $0.00 $11.60 $0.00 $11.60

Topographic and Right-of-Way Surveys $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $32,994.00 $32,994.00 $32,994.00 $0.00 $0.00 $32,994.00

Conceptual Planning $2,970.72 $1,806.49 $3,365.23 $1,058.52 $96.40 $9,297.36 $0.00 $46.40 $50.00 $96.40

Preliminary Plans $11,307.14 $6,875.87 $12,808.73 $4,028.93 $571.40 $35,592.07 $0.00 $46.40 $525.00 $571.40

Right-of-Way Plans $1,662.57 $1,011.01 $1,883.36 $592.40 $194.60 $5,343.94 $0.00 $69.60 $125.00 $194.60

Draft Final Plans $9,184.52 $5,585.11 $10,404.22 $3,272.60 $194.60 $28,641.05 $0.00 $69.60 $125.00 $194.60

Final Plans and Bidding Phase $1,056.44 $642.42 $1,196.74 $376.43 $694.60 $3,966.62 $0.00 $69.60 $625.00 $694.60

Utility Coordination $1,524.89 $927.29 $1,727.40 $543.34 $92.80 $4,815.72 $0.00 $92.80 $0.00 $92.80

Geotechnical Work $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,548.41 $10,548.41 $10,548.41 $0.00 $0.00 $10,548.41

Project Management / Administration $2,061.43 $1,253.56 $2,335.19 $734.52 $100.00 $6,484.70 $0.00 $0.00 $100.00 $100.00

Right of Way Acquisition $1,831.20 $1,113.55 $2,074.38 $652.49 $92.80 $5,764.42 $0.00 $92.80 $0.00 $92.80

Construction Phase Services $21,203.60 $12,893.91 $24,019.44 $7,555.20 $19,315.15 $84,987.30 $17,482.35 $1,832.80 $0.00 $19,315.15

TOTAL $53,542.93 $32,559.46 $60,653.43 $19,078.26 $64,906.36 $230,740.43 $61,024.76 $2,331.60 $1,550.00 $64,906.36

DESIGN PHASE = $30,508.13 $18,551.99 $34,559.61 $10,870.57 $45,498.41 $139,988.71 Services By Others:
PE-Task 2) Topographic and Right-of-Way Surveys

RIGHT-OF-WAY PHASE = $1,831.20 $1,113.55 $2,074.38 $652.49 $92.80 $5,764.42 EDSI - See attached for breakdown

CONSTRUCTION PHASE = $21,203.60 $12,893.91 $24,019.44 $7,555.20 $19,315.15 $84,987.30 PE-Task 9) Geotechnical Work
TSi Geotechnical - See attached for breakdown

CE-Task 1) Construction Phase Services
TSi Geotechnical - See attached for breakdown

PE-7

DIRECT COSTS

PE-1

PE-8

PE-9

PE-10

ROW-1

CE-1

PE-2

PE-3

PE-4

PE-5

PE-6

J - 1 - 28



PE-TASK 1    DATA COLLECTION
Mileage 1 Trip(s) @ 20 miles @ $0.58 / mile 11.60$              

Subtotal 11.60$              
PE-TASK 2    TOPOGRAPHIC & RIGHT-OF-WAY SURVEYS (No CMT costs)
PE-TASK 3    CONCEPTUAL PLANNING

Mileage 4 Trip(s) @ 20 miles @ $0.58 / mile 46.40$              
Misc. Exhibits Strip Maps for Conceptual Meeting 50.00$              

Subtotal 96.40$              
PE-TASK 4    PRELIMINARY PLANS

Mileage 4 Trip(s) @ 20 miles @ $0.58 / mile 46.40$              
Misc. Exhibits 8 boards (public meeting) @ $50/each 400.00$            
Misc. Printing Plans for City and Utilities 75.00$              
Misc. Postage 50.00$              

Subtotal 571.40$            
PE-TASK 5    RIGHT-OF-WAY PLANS

Mileage 6 Trip(s) @ 20 miles @ $0.58 / mile 69.60$              
Misc. Printing Plans for City and Negotiations 75.00$              
Misc. Postage 50.00$              

Subtotal 194.60$            
PE-TASK 6    DRAFT FINAL PLANS

Mileage 6 Trip(s) @ 20 miles @ $0.58 / mile 69.60$              
Misc. Printing Plans and Project Specifications for City 75.00$              
Misc. Postage 50.00$              

Subtotal 194.60$            
PE-TASK 7    FINAL PLANS & BIDDING PHASE

Mileage 6 Trip(s) @ 20 miles @ $0.58 / mile 69.60$              
Misc. Exhibits Final Overall Exhibit for City Use 200.00$            
Misc. Printing 25 sets of plans and specifications 375.00$            
Misc. Postage 50.00$              

Subtotal 694.60$            
PE-TASK 8    UTILITY COORDINATION

Mileage 8 Trip(s) @ 20 miles @ $0.58 / mile 92.80$              
Subtotal 92.80$              

PE-TASK 9   GEOTECHNICAL WORK (No CMT costs)
PE-TASK 10 PROJECT MANAGEMENT/ADMINISTRATION
Misc. Printing Project Manual 50.00$              
Misc. Postage 50.00$              

Subtotal 100.00$            
ROW-TASK 1   RIGHT-OF-WAY ACQUISITION

Mileage 8 Trip(s) @ 20 miles @ $0.58 / mile 92.80$              
Subtotal 92.80$              

CE-TASK 1 CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES
Mileage 158 Trip(s) @ 20 miles @ $0.58 / mile 1,832.80$         

Subtotal 1,832.80$         

3,881.60$         

1,956.00$         

92.80$              

1,832.80$         

Attachment B
CMT DIRECT COSTS (CMT costs only)

TOTAL CONSTRUCTION PHASE DIRECT COSTS

TOTAL DESIGN PHASE DIRECT COSTS

TOTAL DIRECT COSTS

21 weeks x 5 days/week x 1.5 trips per day average

TOTAL RIGHT-OF-WAY PHASE DIRECT COSTS

J - 1 - 29



Project:

Prepared by: Brett Brooks  

Date Prepared: February 21, 2019
Date Revised: February 26, 2019

Topo / ROW Survey Fee $24,894 *

Easement  Document Fee $8,100 *

Total Estimated Fee $32,994

*See Attached Sheets For Details

Westgate Avenue

J - 1 - 30



Engineering Design Source, Inc. Date Prepared:

Project Name: Westgate Avenue

Task Item Principal Surveyor Sr. Tech Tech Survey Crew Admin. Total

1. Project Control 
    1.1 Control Search & Plan 0.5 0.5
    1.2 Horizontal Control - Modified State Plane Datum 4 4
    1.3 Vertical Control - NAVD 88 4 4
    1.4 Balance/Process  Coordinates 1 1
    1.5 Three Point Ties - Field 2 2
    1.6 Three Point Tie Drawinga 2 2
    1.7 Project Coordination / QA/QC 0.5 0.5

SUB-TOTAL HOURS 0 2 0 2 10 0 14

2. Utility Coordination - For Locating Purposes
    2.1 Coordination & Scheduling 1 1
    2.2 Submitting One Call Tickets 4 4
    2.3 Map Requests 4 4
    2.4 Survey Locations of Marked Utilities 2 2
    2.5 Log Utility Data and Mapping 2 2
    2.6 Process Basefile & Incorporate Record Facility Data 8 8
    2.7 QA/QC 2 2

SUB-TOTAL HOURS 0 3 0 18 2 0 23

3. Topographic Survey
    3.1 Coordination & Scheduling 4 4
    3.2 Field Work - 2500 linear feet 40 40
    3.3 Process Data 24 24
    3.4 Annotate Drawings 4 4
    3.5 Create TIN 24 24
    3.6 QA/QC 6 6

SUB-TOTAL HOURS 0 10 48 4 40 0 102

4. Property Research & Right-of-Way Survey
    4.1 Coordination & Scheduling 2 2
    4.2 Record Research 2 8 10
    4.3 Calculate and Draw Record Data 8 8
    4.4 Corner Search 8 8
    4.5 Corner Locate 12 12
    4.6 Process Data 16 16 32
    4.7 Final Drawing - Annotate Ownerships and Dimensions 8 8
    4.8 QA/QC 4 4

SUB-TOTAL HOURS 0 24 0 40 20 0 84

MAN HOURS BY CLASSIFICATION 0 39 48 64 72 0 223
Principal Surveyor Sr. Tech Tech Survey Crew Admin.

Unburdened Rate $69.00 $43.26 $34.63 $27.69 $46.51 $28.00
Overhead Rate 154.82% $106.83 $66.98 $53.61 $42.87 $72.01 $43.35 FIXED FEE-TOTAL
Profit / Fixed Fee 12% $21.10 $13.23 $10.59 $8.47 $14.22 $8.56 $2,590
Average Hourly Billing Rate $196.92 $123.46 $98.83 $79.03 $132.74 $79.91 LABOR-TOTAL
COST BY CLASSIFICATION $0 $4,815 $4,744 $5,058 $9,557 $0 $24,174

Direct Costs Item Cost Unit Price Quantity Unit    
Printing/Copying - Small $10.00 $0.25 40 Each Assumptions:
Printing/Copying - Large $10.00 $1.00 10 Each
Record Research $200.00 $200.00 1 Lump Sum
Temporary Easement Acquisition Documents - Description Only $8,100.00 $300.00 27 Each
Vehicle Usage $450.00 $45.00 10 Per Day
Misc. Survey Supplies $50.00 $50.00 1 Lump Sum
DIRECT COST - TOTAL $8,820.00

Survey Total Fee $32,994

February 26, 2019

No ROW plans will be prepared by EDSI

No title reports will be ordered or reviewed.

J - 1 - 31



J - 1 - 32



J - 1 - 33



J - 1 - 34



J - 1 - 35



J - 1 - 36



J - 1 - 37



J - 1 - 38



J - 1 - 39



J - 1 - 40



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 01/27/2016 

 
 

ATTACHMENT C 
 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, 
SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS -  

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION 
 
1. By signing and submitting this proposal, the prospective primary participant is providing the 

certification set out below. 
 
2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial 

of participation in this covered transaction.  The prospective participant shall submit an explanation of 
why it cannot provide the certification set out below.  The certification or explanation will be 
considered in connection with the department or agency's determination whether to enter into this 
transaction.  However, failure of the prospective primary participant to furnish a certification or an 
explanation shall disqualify such person from participation in this transaction. 

 
3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed 

when the department or agency determined to enter into this transaction.  If it is later determined that 
the prospective primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification in addition to other 
remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency may terminate this 
transaction for cause of default. 

 
4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the department or 

agency to whom this proposal is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns 
that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed 
circumstances. 

 
5. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower tier covered 

transaction," "participant," "person," "primary covered transaction," "principal," "proposal," and 
"voluntarily excluded," "proposal" and "voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have the 
meanings set out in the Definitions and Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 
12549.  You may contact the department or agency to which this proposal is being submitted for 
assistance in obtaining a copy of those regulations. 

 
6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal that, should the proposed 

covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered transaction 
with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by the department or agency entering into 
this transaction. 

 
7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the 

clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion--
Lower Tier Covered Transaction" provided by the department or agency entering into this covered 
transaction, without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all solicitations for 
lower tier covered transactions. 

 
8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a 

lower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded 

J - 1 - 41



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 01/27/2016 

 

from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous.  A participant may 
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals.  Each 
participant may, but is not required to check the Nonprocurement List at the Excluded Parties List 
System. 
https://www.epls.gov/epls/search.do?page=A&status=current&agency=69#A. 

 
9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records 

in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause.  The knowledge and 
information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent 
person in the ordinary course of business dealings. 

 
10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a covered 

transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is suspended, 
debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in addition to other 
remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency may terminate this 
transaction for cause or default.  

 
Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters -Primary Covered 
Transactions 
 
1. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its 

principals: 
 
 a. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency; 
 
 b. Have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal been convicted of or had a civil 

judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection 
with obtaining, attempting to obtain or performing a public (Federal, State or local) transaction 
or contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or 
commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, 
making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

 
 c. Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental 

entity (Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in 
paragraph (1)(b) of this certification; and 

 
 d. Have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more 

public transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 
2. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this 

certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal. 

J - 1 - 42



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 01/27/2016 

 

ATTACHMENT D 
 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, INELIGIBILITY AND 
VOLUNTARY EXCLUSION--LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION 
 
1. By signing and submitting this proposal, the prospective lower tier participant is providing the 

certification set out below. 
 
2. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed 

when this transaction was entered into.  If it is later determined that the prospective lower tier 
participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies available to 
the Federal Government, the department or agency with which this transaction originated may pursue 
available remedies, including suspension and/or debarment. 

 
3. The prospective lower tier participant shall provide immediate written notice to the person to which 

this proposal is submitted if at any time the prospective lower tier participant learns that its 
certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed 
circumstances. 

 
4. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower tier covered 

transaction," "participant," "person," "primary covered transaction," "principal," "proposal," and 
"voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and 
Coverage sections of rules implementing Executive Order 12549.  You may contact the person to 
which this proposal is submitted for assistance in obtaining a copy of those regulations. 

 
5. The prospective lower tier participant agrees by submitting this proposal that, should the proposed 

covered transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily 
excluded from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by the department or agency 
with which this transaction originated. 

 
6. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include 

this clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary 
Exclusion--Lower Tier Covered Transaction," without modification, in all lower tier covered 
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions. 

 
7. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a 

lower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded 
from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous.  A participant may 
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals.  Each 
participant may, but is not required to, check the Nonprocurement List at the Excluded Parties List 
System. 
https://www.epls.gov/epls/search.do?page=A&status=current&agency=69#A. 

 
8. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records 

in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause.  The knowledge and 
information of a participant is not required to exceed that which normally possessed by a prudent 
person in the ordinary course of business dealings. 

 

J - 1 - 43



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 01/27/2016 

 

9. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 5 of these instructions, if a participant in a covered 
transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is suspended, 
debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in addition to other 
remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency with which this transaction 
originated may pursue available remedies, including suspension and/or debarment. 

 
Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion--Lower Tier 
Covered Transactions 
 
1. The prospective lower tier participant certifies, by submission of this proposal, that neither it nor its 

principals is presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily 
excluded from participation in this transaction by any Federal department or agency. 

 
2. Where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this 

certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal. 
  

J - 1 - 44



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 01/27/2016 

 

Attachment E 
Disadvantage Business Enterprise Contract Provisions 

 
   1. Policy:  It is the policy of the U.S. Department of Transportation and the 
Local Agency that businesses owned by socially and economically disadvantaged individuals (DBE's) as 
defined in 49 C.F.R. Part 26 have the maximum opportunity to participate in the performance of contracts 
financed in whole or in part with federal funds.  Thus, the requirements of 49 C.F.R. Part 26 and Section 
1101(b) of the Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century (TEA-21) apply to this Agreement. 
 
   2. Obligation of the Engineer to DBE's:  The Engineer agrees to assure that 
DBEs have the maximum opportunity to participate in the performance of this Agreement and any 
subconsultant agreement financed in whole or in part with federal funds.  In this regard the Engineer shall take 
all necessary and reasonable steps to assure that DBEs have the maximum opportunity to compete for and 
perform services.  The Engineer shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, disability, 
sex, age, or national origin in the performance of this Agreement or in the award of any subsequent 
subconsultant agreement. 
 
   3. Geographic Area for Solicitation of DBEs:  The Engineer shall seek DBEs in 
the same geographic area in which the solicitation for other subconsultants is made.  If the Engineer cannot 
meet the DBE goal using DBEs from that geographic area, the Engineer shall, as a part of the effort to meet 
the goal, expand the search to a reasonably wider geographic area. 
 
   4. Determination of Participation Toward Meeting the DBE Goal:  DBE 
participation shall be counted toward meeting the goal as follows: 
 
    A. Once a firm is determined to be a certified DBE, the total dollar value 
of the subconsultant agreement awarded to that DBE is counted toward the DBE goal set forth above. 
 
    B. The Engineer may count toward the DBE goal a portion of the total 
dollar value of a subconsultant agreement with a joint venture eligible under the DBE standards, equal to the 
percentage of the ownership and control of the DBE partner in the joint venture. 
    
    C. The Engineer may count toward the DBE goal expenditures to DBEs 
who perform a commercially useful function in the completion of services required in this Agreement.  A DBE 
is considered to perform a commercially useful function when the DBE is responsible for the execution of a 
distinct element of the services specified in the Agreement and the carrying out of those responsibilities by 
actually performing, managing and supervising the services involved and providing the desired product. 
 
    D. A Engineer may count toward the DBE goal its expenditures to DBE 
firms consisting of fees or commissions charged for providing a bona fide service, such as professional, 
technical, consultant, or managerial services and assistance in the procurement of essential personnel, 
facilities, equipment, materials or supplies required for the performance of this Agreement, provided that the 
fee or commission is determined by MoDOT’s External Civil Rights Division to be reasonable and not 
excessive as compared with fees customarily allowed for similar services. 
 
    E.  The Engineer is encouraged to use the services of banks owned and 
controlled by socially and economically disadvantaged individuals.  
 
   5. Replacement of DBE Subconsultants:  The Engineer shall make good faith 
efforts to replace a DBE Subconsultant, who is unable to perform satisfactorily, with another DBE 
Subconsultant.  Replacement firms must be approved by MoDOT’s External Civil Rights Division. 

J - 1 - 45



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 01/27/2016 

 

 
   6. Verification of DBE Participation:  Prior to final payment by the Local 
Agency, the Engineer shall file a list with the Local Agency showing the DBEs used and the services 
performed.  The list shall show the actual dollar amount paid to each DBE that is applicable to the percentage 
participation established in this Agreement.  Failure on the part of the Engineer to achieve the DBE 
participation specified in this Agreement may result in sanctions being imposed on the Commission for 
noncompliance with 49 C.F.R. Part 26 and/or Section 1101(b) of TEA-21.  If the total DBE participation is 
less than the goal amount stated by the MoDOT’s External Civil Rights Division, liquidated damages may be 
assessed to the Engineer.   
 
Therefore, in order to liquidate such damages, the monetary difference between the amount of the DBE goal 
dollar amount and the amount actually paid to the DBEs for performing a commercially useful function will be 
deducted from the Engineer's payments as liquidated damages.  If this Agreement is awarded with less than the 
goal amount stated above by MoDOT’s External Civil Rights Division, that lesser amount shall become the 
goal amount and shall be used to determine liquidated damages.  No such deduction will be made when, for 
reasons beyond the control of the Engineer, the DBE goal amount is not met. 
 
   7. Documentation of Good Faith Efforts to Meet the DBE Goal:  The Agreement 
goal is established by MoDOT’s External Civil Rights Division.  The Engineer must document the good faith 
efforts it made to achieve that DBE goal, if the agreed percentage specified is less than the percentage stated.   
The Good Faith Efforts documentation shall illustrate reasonable efforts to obtain DBE Participation.  Good 
faith efforts to meet this DBE goal amount may include such items as, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
    A. Attended a meeting scheduled by the Department to inform DBEs of 
contracting or consulting opportunities. 
 
    B. Advertised in general circulation trade association and socially and 
economically disadvantaged business directed media concerning DBE subcontracting opportunities. 
 
    C. Provided written notices to a reasonable number of specific DBEs 
that their interest in a subconsultant agreement is solicited in sufficient time to allow the DBEs to participate 
effectively. 
 
    D. Followed up on initial solicitations of interest by contacting DBEs to 
determine with certainty whether the DBEs were interested in subconsulting work for this Agreement. 
 
    E. Selected portions of the services to be performed by DBEs in order to 
increase the likelihood of meeting the DBE goal (including, where appropriate, breaking down subconsultant 
agreements into economically feasible units to facilitate DBE participation). 
 
    F. Provided interested DBEs with adequate information about plans, 
specifications and requirements of this Agreement. 
 
    G. Negotiated in good faith with interested DBEs, and not rejecting 
DBEs as unqualified without sound reasons, based on a thorough investigation of their capabilities. 
 
    H. Made efforts to assist interested DBEs in obtaining any bonding, lines 
of credit or insurance required by the Commission or by the Engineer. 
 
    I. Made effective use of the services of available disadvantaged 
business organizations, minority contractors' groups, disadvantaged business assistance offices, and other 

J - 1 - 46



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 01/27/2016 

 

organizations that provide assistance in the recruitment and placement of DBE firms. 
   
  8. Good Faith Efforts to Obtain DBE Participation:  If the Engineer's agreed DBE goal 
amount as specified is less than the established DBE goal given, then the Engineer certifies that good faith 
efforts were taken by Engineer in an attempt to obtain the level of DBE participation set by MoDOT’s 
External Civil Rights.                   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

J - 1 - 47



 

         Fig. 136.4.1 Contract  Revised 01/27/2016 

 

Attachment F – Fig. 136.4.15 
Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form for LPA/Consultants 

Local Federal-aid Transportation Projects 

Firm Name (Consultant):   Crawford, Murphy & Tilly, Inc. 

Project Owner (LPA): University City, Missouri 

Project Name: Westgate Avenue Improvements 

Project Number: STP-5402(616) 

As the LPA and/or consultant for the above local federal-aid transportation project, I have: 
 

1. Reviewed the conflict of interest information found in Missouri’s Local Public Agency Manual 
(EPG 136.4)  

2. Reviewed the Conflict of Interest laws, including 23 CFR § 1.33, 49 CFR 18.36.  
 
And, to the best of my knowledge, determined that, for myself, any owner, partner or employee, with my 
firm or any of my sub-consulting firms providing services for this project, including family members and 
personal interests of the above persons, there are:   
 

 No real or potential conflicts of interest 
If no conflicts have been identified, complete and sign this form and submit to LPA  

 
 Real conflicts of interest or the potential for conflicts of interest 

If a real or potential conflict has been identified, describe on an attached sheet the nature of the 
conflict, and provide a detailed description of Consultant’s proposed mitigation measures (if possible).  
Complete and sign this form and send it, along with all attachments, to the appropriate MoDOT District 
Representative, along with the executed engineering services contract. 

 
LPA       Consultant 

 
Printed Name:_____________________  Printed Name:______________________ 
 
 
Signature:_________________________  Signature:__________________________ 
 
 
Date:       _________________________  Date:       __________________________ 

 
 
 
 

 

J - 1 - 48



Council Agenda Item Cover 

MEETING DATE:  April 8, 2019 

AGENDA ITEM TITLE: Project #1181 – Forsyth Boulevard Improvements 

AGENDA SECTION: Consent Agenda 

CAN THIS ITEM BE RESCHEDULED?:      Yes 

BACKGROUND: 
The City of University City applied for federal funds through the Missouri Highways and 
Transportation Commission and administered by East West Gateway Council of Governments and 
the Missouri Department of Transportation, to improve Forsyth Boulevard within City Limits 
(approximately 0.75 mile).  The proposed improvements include resurfacing of the road, ADA 
improvements (curbs, curb ramps and sidewalks), traffic signal improvements at Forsyth and 
Asbury, and bicycle facilities (Share the road signage and markings) in accordance with the 
Gateway Bike Plan and the Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan for the City of University City.   

The project bids were opened on February 7, 2019 and was advertised in the St. Louis American 
newspaper, published on MoDOT’s website, Drexel, and City of University City’s website 

The design, bidding and MoDOT approval have been completed and the project is ready for 
construction. Listed below are the bid results in addition to construction engineering cost for this 
project and the accounting breakdown. 

Contractor Bid Proposal 

Gershenson $990,220.00 
Raineri $1,085,695.50 
R.V. Wagner $1,120,687.90 
Krupp $1,136,092.89 
Pavement Solutions $1,251,832.67 
West Contracting $1,295,026.69 
J.M  Marschuetz $1,559,745.10 

Year Project Phase Contract 
Amount City Match Federal Match 

FY 18/19 Construction Design $ 990,220.00  $284,476.00 $705,744.00 

FY 18/19 Construction Engineering  $  68,291.00  $19,619.02 $ 48,671.98 

Total Consulting Services  1,058,511.00  304,095.02 $754,415.98 

J - 2 - 1



  
 

The Disadvantage Business Enterprise participation requirement for this project is eight 
percent (8%).  The firm has committed to meet or exceed the goal and all documentation 
will be submitted to the MoDOT’s External Civil Rights. 
 
The Capital Improvement Program project number #PW19-13 as amended (at the March 
25, 2019 Council meeting) is proposed to fund the project expenditures.  The project 
funding will need to be supplemented with Capital Improvement Sales Tax Fund Reserve 
in the amount of $120,095.02 to pay for the local share of the project funding.  The grant 
share will also need to be supplemented in the amount of $18,415.98 and the necessary 
grant match funding for the project will come from the Street Maintenance Program line 
item (#PW19/23-01) under the Capital Improvement Program and the grant 
reimbursement progress payments will be paid back into the fund. 
 
An engineering services contract for construction engineering services in the amount of 
$68,291 was approved by City Council to be awarded to Engineering Design Source, Inc. 
on September 8, 2015 at the beginning of the design for the project and this cost is 
included in the above fund allocation analysis. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: City Manager recommends that City Council approve the award 
of the project construction contract to Gershenson Construction in the amount of 
$990,220.00.  This firm is the lowest and responsible bidder, has a good track record of 
successfully completing public works projects in University City and other jurisdictions in 
the past and has been approved by MoDOT. 
 

J - 2 - 2



  
 

 
 
 

 
Council Agenda Item Cover 

 
 
MEETING DATE:  April 8, 2019            
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE: Great Rivers Greenway Ackert Walkway Improvements Signage 

and Agreement 
 
AGENDA SECTION:   Consent Agenda  
 
CAN THIS ITEM BE RESCHEDULED?:    Yes 
BACKGROUND REVIEW:     
 
In 2017 The City of University City was granted a Transportation Alternatives Program 
Grant to make improvements to Ackert Walkway. The proposed improvements include 4” 
concrete sidewalk repair, upgraded lighting, detailed signage, pavement markings, and 
improved ADA compliant curb ramps and landings.  The proposed improvements support 
the City’s current Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) transition plan, as well as the 
Parkview Gardens Park Plan adopted in February 2010. In addition, the lighting upgrades 
increase the city’s energy efficiency which result in cost savings for the City.   
 
University City has designated Ackert Walkway as part of Great Rivers Greenway (GRG) 
Centennial Greenway in the 2008 Parks Master Plan and resolution 091905 supporting of 
the Centennial Greenway Plan. Centennial Greenway originates in Forest Park, crosses 
into University City via the Pedestrian Bridge over Forest Park Parkway to Greenway 
South, then north on Melville through the Delmar Loop down Ackert Walkway to Vernon.  
A future project will continue Centennial Greenway to Heman Park then connecting to the 
Greenway along I-170. 
 
Final plans are being reviewed by staff and will soon be sent to MoDOT for approval.  It is 
anticipated the project will go out to bid in spring for construction in summer 2019.  Great 
Rivers Greenway will provide wayfinding signage consistent with the signage currently 
located along the greenway south of Ackert.  The Park Commission has reviewed the 
signage with no objections.  
 
All signage proposed are at no additional cost to the City.  The increased maintenance 
cost of the improvements to the City is minimal and the maintenance work is part of the 
routine capabilities of the City.  

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
City Manager recommends that the City Council approve, sign and enter into a 
maintenance agreement with Great River’s Greenway for the signage and Greenway. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 

1. Project Layout 
2. Agreement with Exhibits 

J - 3 - 1





 
 

 
 

 

Ackert Walkway 

Centennial Greenway 

St. Vincent Greenway 

 

J - 3 - 2



DocID: 4828-1771-2009.2

FIRST AMENDMENT TO COOPERATION AGREEMENT 
FOR THE CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE  

OF CENTENNIAL GREENWAY 

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO COOPERATION AGREEMENT FOR THE 

CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE OF CENTENNIAL GREENWAY is made and entered 

into this ___ day of __________, 2019 by and between the METROPOLITAN PARK AND 

RECREATION DISTRICT, d/b/a THE GREAT RIVERS GREENWAY DISTRICT (hereinafter 

“DISTRICT”) and the CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI (hereinafter the “CITY”).  

WHEREAS, DISTRICT and the CITY entered into that certain COOPERATION 

AGREEMENT FOR THE CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE OF CENTENNIAL 

GREENWAY dated March 10, 2010 (the “COOPERATION AGREEMENT”) to provide for the 

construction of a trail, trail facilities, and improvements (the “GREENWAY”) and the 

maintenance of the same, a copy of which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT A and made a part 

hereof; and 

WHEREAS, the CITY and DISTRICT wish to amend the COOPERATION AGREEMENT 

to include an extension of the GREENWAY from 400 feet north of Delmar Blvd. to Vernon 

Avenue along Ackert Walkway within the scope of the COOPERATION AGREEMENT. 

NOW, THEREFORE, all parties agree, and the COOPERATION AGREEMENT is 

hereby amended as follows: 

1. DISTRICT OBLIGATIONS.  DISTRICT agrees to provide to the CITY, at DISTRICT’S

cost, (i) replacement GREENWAY signage for signage installed along the original

GREENWAY and (II) new signage for the extension of the GREENWAY to Vernon Ave.

as depicted on EXHIBIT B attached hereto, pending final approval of construction

documents by the CITY and DISTRICT.  DISTRICT further agrees to replace all

GREENWAY signage as needed, with costs of installation and/or labor to be paid for

J - 3 - 3



J - 3 - 4



J - 3 - 5



DocID: 4828-1771-2009.2

and/or provided by the CITY.  The CITY agrees to conduct regular maintenance of all 

GREENWAY signage, including graffiti removal. 

2. CITY OBLIGATIONS.  Upon completion of the extended GREENWAY, the CITY shall

assume the full and total financial and administrative responsibility for ordinary

operations and maintenance of the GREENWAY (as extended). The DISTRICT’S Level

of Care Guidelines (2017) should be utilized as a guide to the operation and

maintenance of GREENWAY elements.

3. AGREEMENT. The COOPERATION AGREEMENT as amended by this FIRST

AMENDMENT shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.

WHEREFORE, all other terms and conditions that are not hereby amended are to 

remain in full force and effect.   

METROPOLITAN PARK AND   CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 
RECREATION DISTRICT d/b/a  
THE GREAT RIVERS GREENWAY 
DISTRICT 

_________________________________ ____________________________ 

CEO     date City Manager   date 

J - 3 - 6



 

DocID: 4828-1771-2009.2 

EXHIBIT A 

(Original Cooperation Agreement) 

 

  

J - 3 - 7



DocID: 4828-1771-2009.2

EXHIBIT B  

(Greenway Signage) 

J - 3 - 8



WF-1: GX-4 Mounted 
on Existing Pole

WF-2: KX-1 Main 
Trailhead Kiosk

WF=3: GX-6 
Multidirectional 
Medium Guide

WF-5: GX-6 
Multidirectional 
Medium Guide

WF-4: GX-4 
Pedestrian 
Trailblazer Post 
Mounted

EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 9



EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 10



WF-9: GX-6 Multi-
Directional Medium Guide

WF-8: GX-6 Multi-
Directional Medium Guide

WF-7: GX-6 Multi-
Directional Medium Guide

WF-10: GX-7 Single 
Directional Medium Guide

WF-6: GX-7 Single 
Directional Medium Guide

EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 11



EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 12



WF-12: KX-1 Main 
Trailhead Kiosk

WF-11: GX-7: Single-
Directional Medium Guide

EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 13



Sign WF-1

COLOR

3/4" = 1'-0" 
(on a 11" x 17" paper) 

SCALE

SIGN TYPE

DATE DESCRIPTION

109 East Front Suite 304
Traverse City, MI  49684

231 947.1236

High pressure laminate 
panel

Front View Side View Back View Back Isometric View

Howell Trailhead 1.0

3.5

4.2

.4

4.2

Missouri Research
Park Trailhead

Katy Trail

Busch Conservation
Area

Hamburg Trail

Mississippi Greenway

EXISTING POLE - Example Sign Type Gx-5e

WALL - Example Sign Type Gx-5w FENCE - Example Sign Type Gx-5f

Attach extrusion to sign panel
with 3M VHB 9473PC tape and
full length plug or fillet welds.

Universal Channel Clamp
Standard stainless steel mounting

bracket compatible with any
Signfix support extrusion.

Bucklestrap
Stainless steel band. Use to

attach Universal Channel Clamp
to round posts.

WORLD HEADQUARTERS &
WESTERN U.S. CUSTOMER
SALES & SERVICE CENTER

BAND-IT - IDEX, INC.
A Unit of IDEX Corporation
4799 Dahlia St.
P.O. Box 16307
Denver, Colorado 80216-0307
Ph: 303-320-4555  
FAX 303-333-6549

EASTERN U.S. CUSTOMER
SALES & SERVICE CENTER

BAND-IT - IDEX, INC.
A Unit of IDEX Corporation
3520 Progress Drive
Bensalem, Pennsylvania 19020
Ph: 215-245-7290
FAX 215-245-7291

www.band-it-idex.com

Attachment Product 
available from:

Extrusion
Size, length, quantity
and positioning to be

determined by Fabricator.

Front View Side View Back View

Howell Trailhead 1.0

3.5

4.2

.4

4.2

Missouri Research
Park Trailhead

Katy Trail

Busch Conservation
Area

Hamburg Trail

Mississippi Greenway

Mechanical wall fasteners 
to be specified by installer.

Manufacturer to field verify 
all wall conditions and 
specify the appropriate 

mechanical fastener.

High pressure laminate 
panel

Front View Side View Back View

Howell Trailhead 1.0

3.5

4.2

.4

4.2

Missouri Research
Park Trailhead

Katy Trail

Busch Conservation
Area

Hamburg Trail

Mississippi Greenway

Manufacturer to field verify 
all fence conditions and 
specify the appropriate 

mechanical fastener

Mechanical fasteners to be 
specified by installer

Mounting bracket

233 065 Emergency
Call 911

Report a Problem 314.436-7009 

or info@grgstl.org 

Location Code

233 065 Emergency
Call 911

Report a Problem 314.436-7009 

or info@grgstl.org 

Location Code

233 065 Emergency
Call 911

Report a Problem 314.436-7009 

or info@grgstl.org 

Location Code

16

08.20.15 Presentation
09.22.15 Revision
11.23.15 Revision
01.14.16 Revision

01 Dark Blue

02 Blue

04 Green

05 Brown

06 Yellow

07 White

08 Orange

Sign Panel Mounting 
Options

Mount on Existing Pole

EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 14



Sign WF-2
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 15



Sign WF-3
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 16



Sign WF-4
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 17



Sign WF-5
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 18



Sign WF-6
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 19



Sign WF-7
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 20



Sign WF-8
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 21



Sign WF-9
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 22



Sign WF-10
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 23



Sign WF-11
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 24



Sign WF-12
EXHIBIT B

J - 3 - 25



Council Agenda Item Cover 

MEETING DATE:  April 8, 2019       

AGENDA ITEM TITLE: Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) Study Grant Agreement 

AGENDA SECTION:   Consent Agenda  

CAN THIS ITEM BE RESCHEDULED?:    Yes 
BACKGROUND REVIEW: 

Since 2007, University City has been delivering its single stream recyclables to Republic 
Recycling for sorting and processing. Prior to 2007, University City provided curbside 
recycling and sorted and processed the materials at its own MRF. 

Due to recent changes in single stream recycling markets, the option of re-opening the 
MRF has been considered. The structure, pit opening and chute openings are still in place.  
Staff is still present from the MRF operations and is knowledgeable about the operations. 
Additional costs for equipment, labor, fleet, and structural improvements need to be 
determined, as does the revenue from recyclable materials.  

Kirkwood, Brentwood, and Valley Park have expressed interest in investing in and utilizing 
the MRF if opened by University City.  

In December 2018 the City applied for funding from the St. Louis Jefferson Solid Waste 
Management District (SWMD) for a feasibility Study for reopening the MRF.  The City was 
awarded $24,000 in funds for the study to be performed. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended that the City Council grant authority to the City Manager to sign the 
grant agreement for $24,000 with a $2,772 in-kind City match of which 100% is designated 
as personnel costs.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Financial Assistance Agreement

J - 4 - 1



J - 4 - 2



J - 4 - 3



J - 4 - 4



J - 4 - 5



J - 4 - 6



J - 4 - 7



J - 4 - 8



J - 4 - 9



J - 4 - 10



J - 4 - 11



J - 4 - 12



J - 4 - 13



J - 4 - 14



J - 4 - 15



J - 4 - 16



J - 4 - 17



J - 4 - 18



J - 4 - 19



J - 4 - 20



J - 4 - 21



J - 4 - 22



        Council Agenda Item Cover  

_______________________________________________________________________            

MEETING DATE: 

AGENDA ITEM TITLE:    

April 8, 2019         

Zoning Code Text Amendment to Article VII -  Off-street Parking 
and Loading Requirements. 

AGENDA SECTION:   Unfinished Business 

CAN THIS ITEM BE RESCHEDULED? :    Yes 

BACKGROUND REVIEW:    

The following proposed amendments to the University City Zoning Code were reviewed by the 
code review sub-committee on two separate occasions along with City Staff. The Plan 
Commission reviewed the changes and made comments during their regularly scheduled meeting 
on February 27, 2019 at the Heman Park Community Center. The proposed revisions, to Article 
VII, are intended to better meet the parking demands of University City residents and businesses. 
The proposed changes are intended to better utilize existing space in University City and 
to accommodate and more accurately represent the parking demands of the community.  

This agenda item requires a public hearing at the City Council level and passage of an ordinance.  
The first reading and public hearing took place on March 25, 2019.  The second and third 
readings and passage of the ordinance will occur at the April 8, 2019 meeting. 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Manager recommends that the City Council approve the Zoning 
Code Text Amendment to Article VII - Off-street Parking and Loading Requirements.

Attachments: 
1: Transmittal Letter from Plan Commission 
2: Draft Ordinance 

L - 1 - 1



Plan Commission
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   

March 25, 2019 

Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 

RE: Zoning Code Text Amendment to Article VII - Off-Street Parking and Loading 
Requirements. 

Dear Ms. Reese, 

At its regular meeting on February 27, 2019 at 6:30 pm in the Heman Park Community 
Center, 975 Pennsylvania Avenue, University City, Missouri, 63130, the Plan 
Commission reviewed proposed changes to Chapter 400 Article VII - Off-Street Parking 
and Loading Requirements of the municipal code of the City of University City. 

By a vote of 5 to 0, the Plan Commission recommended approval of the proposed text 
amendment to Article VII – Off-Street Parking and Loading Requirements. 

Cirri Moran, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 

L - 1 - 2



DRAFT

INTRODUCED BY: Councilmember Tim Cusick

BILL NO. 9383

DATE: March 25, 2019

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 400 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, RELATING TO ZONING, BY AMENDING SECTIONS 
400.2010, 400.2070, 400.2130 AND  400.2140 THEREOF,  AND BY ADDING 400.2145 
THEREIN, RELATING TO OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING 
REGULATIONS; CONTAINING A SAVINGS CLAUSE AND PROVIDING A 
PENALTY. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, 
MISSOURI AS FOLLOWS: 

WHEREAS, Chapter 400 of the Municipal Code of the City of University City, Missouri
divides the City into several zoning districts and regulates the uses and off-street parking on 
which the premises located therein may be put; and

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission in a meeting held at the Heman Park Community
Center located at 975 Pennsylvania Avenue, University City, Missouri on February 27, 2019, at
6:30 p.m. recommended an amendment of Sections 400.2010, 400.2070, 400.2130 and 400.2140,
and the addition of Section 400.2145, and 

WHEREAS, due notice of a public hearing to be held by the City Council in the 5th

Floor City Council Chambers at City Hall at 6:30 pm, March 25, 2019, was duly published in the
St. Louis Countian, a newspaper of general circulation within said City on March 8, 2019; and

WHEREAS, said public hearing was held at the time and place specified in said notice,
and all suggestions or objections concerning said amendment of the Zoning Code were duly
heard and considered by the City Council. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1.   Chapter 400 of the Municipal Code of the City of University City, Missouri, 
relating to zoning, is hereby amended, by amending Sections 400.2010, 400.2070, 400.2130 and 
400.2140 thereof, and by adding Section 400.2145, relating to Off-Street Parking and Loading 
Regulations; and as so amended shall read as follows (where applicable, underlined text is added 
text and stricken text is removed): 

Article 7, Division 2, Section 400.2010 
Location of Parking Areas. 
[R.O. 2011 §34-92.3; Ord. No. 6139 §1(Exh. A (part)), 1997] 

A. All required off-street parking shall be provided on the same zoning lot occupied by the use or
building to which it is appurtenant, except as provided for below.

L - 1 - 3



DRAFT

B. In the event that there exist practical difficulties in satisfying the requirement for parking spaces
and/or if the public safety and convenience would be adequately served by another location. An
alternate location may be authorized under the conditional use procedure (see Article XI), subject to the
following conditions:

1. If parking is to be located elsewhere than on the lot on which the principal use is located, then
the "off-site" property to be utilized for parking shall be in the same possession (either by deed,
or by easement, or long-term lease which has a term equal to or exceeding the projected life or
term of lease of the facility bound by covenants filed in the office of the St. Louis County
Recorder of Deeds) as the owner of the principal use, except as provided for in Section 400.
2130.   In addition, the owner of property used for off-site parking shall be, bound by covenants
filed in the office of the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds requiring such owner, successors,
assigns to maintain the required number of off-street parking spaces during the existence of
such principal use utilizing the property for parking.

2. Such off-site parking areas shall be located not more than five hundred (500) one-thousand 
(1,000) feet from the nearest primary entrance to the principal building being served, provided
the lot, for which off-site parking is to be provided, is not located in a SR (single family) or LR 
(limited residential) district. a zoning district that permits a parking lot or structure as a principal
use of the off-site parking spaces are in a parking structure having at least two hundred (200)
parking spaces and a conditional use permit for the off-site parking area is approved by the City
Council under the procedure in Article XI, Conditional Uses. The distance between a primary
entrance and the off-site parking site shall be calculated using the door of the primary entrance
and the nearest point on the property from said entrance on the off-site parking area. In
addition, such off-site parking areas shall not be located so as to cause persons to cross an
arterial street to get from said parking area to the principal use which it serves unless such off-
site parking area is located within five-hundred (500) feet of a signalized intersection. For
purposes of this paragraph, arterial streets consist of Delmar, Olive, and Hanley. Such off-site 
parking areas shall not be located so as to cause persons to cross I-170 to get from said parking
area to the principal use which it serves.[Ord. No. 6989 §1, 4-27-2015]

3. Such off-site parking must ensure the route from required ADA accessible spaces in the off-
site parking area to the nearest ADA accessible entrance follows an accessible route as defined
by the most recent ADA standards.

C. Cross-access between off-street parking areas on adjacent properties shall be subject to review and
approval by the Department of Community Development.  Execution of a cross-access easement shall be
as approved by the Department of Community Development.
[Ord. No. 6989 §1, 4-27-2015]

Section 400.2070 - Parking For Multiple Use Buildings. 
[R.O. 2011 §34-93.3; Ord. No. 6139 §1(Exh. A (part)), 1997] 

The number of parking spaces required for land or buildings used for two (2) or more purposes shall be 
the sum of the requirements for the various uses, computed in accordance with this Article. Parking 
facilities for one (1) use shall not be considered as providing the required parking facilities for any other 
use, except as provided for in Section 400.2130.E of this Article.  
Article 7, Division 4, Section 400.2130 

L - 1 - 4



DRAFT

Exceptions To The Minimum Off-Street Parking and Loading Space Requirements. 
[R.O. 2011 §34-94.1; Ord. No. 6139 §1(Exh. A (part)), 1997; Ord. No. 6401 §1(part), 2002] 

A. Parking Exception For The "CC" District. Division 4 of this Article shall not apply to any re-occupancy or
redevelopment of existing buildings or structures, whether or not the new use is similar to the
previously permitted use, when located within the "CC" Core Commercial District as indicated on the
official Zoning Map of University City. In addition, this exception does not apply to redevelopment of any
site located within the "CC" district. For the purposes of this Section, the term "redevelopment" shall
mean:

1. The construction of a new building, or

2. An addition to an existing building that increases the gross floor area of that building by more
than ten percent (10%) of the original gross floor area.

B. Exception For Places Of Worship. On-site parking facilities required for places of worship may be
reduced by not more than fifty percent (50%) where such facilities are located in a non-residential
district and within five hundred (500) feet of public or private parking lots having sufficient spaces to
make up for the reduction. The use of an off-site public parking lot may only be authorized under the
conditional use permit procedure (see Article XI). The use of an off-site private parking lot shall comply
with Section 400.2010(B)(1), and be subject to the approval of the Zoning Administrator.

C. Exception For Elderly Housing. The off-street parking requirements, for housing marketed and
intended for occupancy by elderly persons, may be reduced to three-fourths (0.75) spaces per dwelling
unit subject to the conditional use permit procedure (see Article XI) or the planned development
procedure (see Article IV, Division 11). Approval of such a reduction shall be predicated on reserving an
area on the site to accommodate the additional parking, that would otherwise be required, should
conversion to conventional housing occur in the future.

D. C.  Exception For Change Of Use Of Existing Commercial Buildings. A reduction in the number of
required off-street parking and loading spaces for the re-use of a commercial building, existing prior to
the effective date of this Chapter, may be authorized under the conditional use permit procedure (see
Article XI), subject to the following conditions:

1. The reduction shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the off-street parking space
requirements for the proposed use;

2. No reduction shall be made in the amount of existing available off-street parking spaces on-
site;

3. The proposed use does not involve an expansion of the building that would result in
additional parking or loading space requirements;

4. Notwithstanding compliance with other standards contained in this Article (e.g., setbacks and
landscaping), any portion of the site that can be reasonably converted to off-street parking shall
be so used to satisfy a portion of the parking requirement; and

L - 1 - 5



DRAFT

5. The reduction shall not result in "spill-over" parking on adjacent or nearby properties.
In making its determination, the Plan Commission and City Council shall consider information on
the parking and loading demand associated with the proposed use as presented by the applicant
and City staff.

E. D. Exception Where Public Parking Is Allocated For Use. The City Council may allow a reduction in the
number of on-site parking spaces required when the building served by such parking is located within
five hundred (500) one-thousand (1,000) feet of a public parking facility or lot provided a fee is paid to
the City for pro rata share of the cost of constructing and maintaining such facility or lot. [Ord. No. 6989
§1, 4-27-2015]

F. E. Exception for Shared Parking Arrangements. Shared parking is an arrangement in which two or 
more uses with different peak parking periods (hours of operation) use the same off-street parking 
spaces to meet their off-street parking requirements. Up to 100% of the parking required for one use 
may be supplied by the off-street parking spaces provided for another use.  

1. By conditional use permit, a reduction in the number of parking spaces may be authorized. In
issuing a conditional use permit, the City will consider whether the uses: 

a. Are located within 500 (five hundred) feet as the crow flies of the shared parking as
measured from the entrance of the use to the nearest point on the property; 

b. Have no substantial conflict in the principal operating hours of the uses for which the
sharing of parking is proposed (see shared parking table in Section 400.2130.E.3 as a
guide);

c. Do not adversely affect surrounding neighborhoods;

d. Do not adversely affect traffic congestion and circulation; and

e. Have a positive effect on the economic viability or appearance of the project or on
the environment. 

f. Relieved spaces or off-site shared parking spots cannot be located within the SR, LR,
MR or HR Zoning Districts. 

2. Application Requirements for Shared Parking. As a part of the application materials required
for a conditional use permit, the applicant seeking shared parking shall submit to the Zoning 
Administrator the following information as a part of the conditional use permit application:  

a. Proof that the uses of the shared spaces will reflect different peak hours of operation
at different times of the day, week, month or year (see shared parking table below); 

b. Proof of the size and types of proposed development or substantial changes, size and
type of activities, composition of tenants, rate of turnover for parking spaces, and 
anticipated peak parking and traffic loads; 

L - 1 - 6



DRAFT

c. Proof that the route from required ADA accessible spaces in shared parking area to
the nearest ADA accessible entrance follows an accessible route as defined by the most 
recent ADA standards; 

d. An agreement providing for the shared use of parking areas, executed by the parties
involved including owners of record, that shall include provisions for maintenance, snow 
removal, ownership, liability and duration of the agreement, which must be filed with 
the Department of Community Development in a form approved by the Community 
Development Director.  

3. Shared Parking Table. The following table shall be used to determine peak hours of
operation for proposed shared parking. Parking requirements shall be the cumulative 
requirements of the uses sharing the parking, except where different categories of uses (retail 
or service, employment, civic, or dwellings) are participating in the sharing agreement and are 
likely to generate distinctly different times of peak parking demand. Each use should provide a 
percentage of parking required by these regulations according to the shared parking table 
below. Whichever time period column requires the highest total parking spaces among the 
various uses should be the amount of parking provided subject to the shared parking 
agreement and Plan Commission review. Alternative parking allocations may be approved as a 
function of the conditional use permit based on industry data or other sufficient evidence and 
analysis of peak parking demands for specific uses. 

Land Use 

Percentage of Required Parking Spaces by Period

Monday-Thursday 
Day and Evening 

Friday-Sunday 
 Day and Evening Nighttime 

6 AM to 5 PM 5 PM to 1 
AM 

6 AM to 5 
PM 

5 PM to 1 
AM 1 AM to 6 AM 

EMPLOYMENT 100% 10% 5% 5% 5% 
RETAIL OR SERVICE 75% 75% 100% 90% 5% 
RESTAURANT 50% 100% 75% 100% 25% 
ENTERTAINMENT and 
RECREATION 30% 100% 75% 100% 5% 

PLACE OF WORSHIP* 5% 25% 100% 50% 5% 
SCHOOL 100% 10% 10% 10% 5% 
DWELLING 25% 90% 50% 90% 100% 
LODGING 50% 90% 75% 100% 100% 
*Place of Worship parking needs will be considered on a case by case basis as different faiths gather at
different days and times during the week.

4. Duration of agreement. Shared parking privileges will continue in effect only as long as the
agreement, binding on all parties, remains in force. Agreements must guarantee long-term 
availability of the parking, commensurate with the use served by the parking.  

L - 1 - 7



DRAFT

5. Recording of Agreement. The agreements must be recorded with the County Recorder. If the 
uses of either party changes, the CUP is no longer valid unless the Zoning Administrator 
authorizes the new uses and determines there is compliance with the shared parking table 
(Section 400.2130.E.3). If a shared parking agreement lapses or is no longer valid, then parking 
must be provided as otherwise required by this article. 
 
6. Revocation of permits. Failure to comply with the shared parking provisions of the shared 
parking plan shall constitute a violation of the Zoning Code and shall be cause for revocation of a 
certificate of zoning compliance and/or building permit. 

F. Exception For Multi-Tenant Commercial Buildings. The off-street parking requirements may be 
reduced for uses located in multi-tenant commercial buildings, subject to the following conditions: 
[Ord. No. 6989 §1, 4-27-2015] 
 

1. The reduction shall not exceed twenty percent (20%) for uses in multi-tenant commercial 
buildings with a minimum of three (3) tenants. 
2. The reduction shall not exceed fifteen percent (15%) for uses in commercial buildings with 
two (2) tenants. 

 
G. Exception Based On Peak Hours Of Operation. The off-street parking requirements may be reduced by 
an additional ten percent (10%) for a commercial use in a multi-tenant building/development when the 
peak hours of operation for said commercial use allows for shared use with other tenants or uses in said 
building/development. The reduction shall be subject to review and approval by the Department of 
Community Development. [Ord. No. 6989 §1, 4-27-2015] 
 
H. F. Exception For Uses Located Near Transit Stations and Stops. For uses located within five hundred 
(500) one thousand (1,000) feet of a public transit station or stop, the off-street parking requirements 
may be reduced by ten fifteen percent (15% 10%). The Loop Trolley stops and stations shall not be 
included in this exception. 
[Ord. No. 6989 §1, 4-27-2015] 
 
I. Exception For Uses Located Near Transit Stops. For uses located within five hundred (500) feet of a 
public transit stop, the off-street parking requirements may be reduced by ten percent (10%). 
[Ord. No. 6989 §1, 4-27-2015] 
 
J. The parking requirements shall be reduced by one (1) vehicle parking space for each five (5) bicycle 
parking spaces provided with a maximum reduction of three (3) vehicle parking spaces. [Ord. No. 6989 
§1, 4-27-2015] 
 

Section 400.2140 
A. Schedule of Off-Street Vehicle Parking Space Requirements. 
[R.O. 2011 §34-94.2; Ord. No. 6139 §1(Exh. A (part)), 1997; Ord. No. 6158 §1, 1998; Ord. No. 6989 §1, 4-
27-2015] 
 

 

L - 1 - 8



DRAFT

USE  MINIMUM PARKING REQUIREMENTS 

Amusement centers (indoor) 1 space for each 50 square feet devoted to amusement 
devises, virtual reality games, restaurants and bar areas 

Amusement centers (outdoor) 

1 space for each 200 square feet of enclosed building space 
devoted to customer service and administration; plus 1 space 
for every 3 persons that the outdoor facilities are designed to 
accommodate when used to the maximum capacity 

Animal hospitals, and veterinary clinics, 
boarding facilities, and grooming 
facilities 

1 space for each 200 square feet of floor area 

Animal boarding facilities 1 space per 400 square feet of floor area, but not less than 3 
spaces 

Appliance stores (see Furniture and appliance stores) 
Art galleries and studios 1 space for each 500 square feet of floor area 
Auditoriums (see Places of public assembly) 
Automobile and truck sales, rental, and 
leasing 

1 space for each 400 square feet of floor area of sales and
showroom area

Banks and other financial institutions 1 space for each 200 250 square feet of floor area (see also 
drive-through facilities) 

Banquet centers and reception halls (see places of Public of public assembly) 

Barber and beauty shops and/or nail 
salons or spas (as a principal use) 

3 2 spaces for each haircut or styling station, nail station, or 
massage room

Bars and taverns (see Restaurants, bars, and taverns) 

Billiard parlors (see Amusement centers, indoor) 

Bingo halls (see Places of public assembly) 
Bowling alleys (see Sports and recreation facilities) 
Car wash, full-service (as a principal use,
with or without automated washing 
equipment)

8 spaces; plus 10 stacking spaces for each washing bay 

Car wash, full-service (as an accessory 
use, with or without automated 
washing equipment) 

3 stacking spaces for each washing bay 

Car wash, self-service 

4 stacking spaces for each washing bay; plus 1 parking space 
per washing bay for drying vehicles; plus 2 stacking spaces for 
each vacuuming station which is separated from the stacking 
lanes to the washing bays 

Churches or synagogues (see Places of worship) 

Clubs and lodges 1 space for every 3 persons based on design occupancy load 
per the University City Building Code 

L - 1 - 9



DRAFT

Convalescent and nursing homes 1 space for every 3 patients based on designed maximum 
capacity 

Convenience stores 
 
(see Grocery store) 
 

Day care centers 
1 space for every 5 individuals cared for as authorized by 
State licensing 

Dentists (see Office, medical and dental) 

Doctors (see Office, medical and dental) 

Dormitories 2 spaces for every 3 beds based on the designed maximum 
capacity 

Drive-through facilities (except as 
otherwise specified in this Section) 

5 stacking spaces for each customer service station, including 
drive-up service windows, drive-up automated teller 
machines (ATM), drive-up banking service lanes, but not 
including drive-up public telephones. Parking circulation 
aisles shall not be utilized to satisfy this requirement. 

Dwellings, apartments multi-family 
(including elevator, garden, and town 
house buildings apartments) 

1.5 1 spaces for each dwelling unit, except that 2 1.5 spaces 
shall be provided for each dwelling unit containing 2 or more 
bedrooms; plus visitor parking for apartment dwellings with 6 
or more dwelling units, at the rate of 1 parking space for each 
6 dwelling units or fraction thereof for the first 30 dwelling 
units and 1 space for each additional 20 dwelling units 

Dwellings, single-family (including 
attached single-family, detached single-
family, and patio dwellings) 

2 spaces for each dwelling unit 

Dwellings, two-family 

2 spaces for each dwelling unit, except that 1.5 spaces may 
be provided for each dwelling unit in unified developments 
containing at least 8 two-family or attached single-family 
dwellings and subject to approval under the "Planned 
Development" procedure 

Fraternities or sororities 1 space for each bed based on the designed maximum 
capacity 

Funeral homes or mortuaries 
1 space for each 75 square feet of parlor or chapel area or 1 
space for every 5 fixed seats, whichever is greater, but no less 
than 20 spaces for each parlor or chapel 

 
Furniture or appliance stores 
 

 
1 space for each 400 square feet of floor area 
 

L - 1 - 10



DRAFT

Gasoline stations 

2 spaces; Gasoline stations offering other retail goods for 
sale, in enclosed space accessible by the customer, shall also 
comply with the parking requirements for convenience 
stores. Gasoline stations providing vehicle repair or 
maintenance services shall also comply with the parking 
requirements for vehicle repair or service facilities. Gasoline 
station having accessory car wash facilities shall provide 
vehicle stacking spaces in accordance with car wash, full 
service 

Gymnasiums (see Sports and recreation facilities and Places of public 
assembly) 

Hotels or motels 
1.1 spaces for every rental unit; plus spaces as required 
herein for affiliated uses such as restaurants, meeting rooms 
or banquet facilities 

Kennels (see Animal boarding facilities) 
Laundromats, self-service 1 space for each 200 250 square feet 

Manufacturing, warehousing and 
wholesale uses 

1 space for each 1,000 square feet of floor area or 2 spaces 
for every 3 employees, whichever is greater; plus 1 space for 
each vehicle customarily used in the operation of the use or 
stored on the premises; plus spaces as required herein for 
affiliated uses such as office or retail sales area 

Mini-warehousing (see Warehousing, self-storage) 
Mortuaries (see Funeral homes or mortuaries) 
Movie theaters (see Places of public assembly) 
Nursing homes (see Convalescent and nursing homes) 
Offices, other than dental and medical 
offices, or offices associated with 
banking or other financial institutions 

1 space for each 300 400 square feet of floor area, including 
the basement if used or adaptable to office use 

Offices, dental and medical (including 
outpatient medical clinics, surgery 
centers, MRI centers, chiropractor 
offices, and similar uses) 

1 space for each 200 250 square feet of floor area, including 
the basement if used or adaptable to office use 

Places of public assembly (including 
auditoriums, banquet halls, 
gymnasiums with spectator seating, 
meeting rooms, reception halls, sports 
facilities with spectator seating, 
theaters, and similar uses) 

1 space for every 3.5 seats in the main assembly room (1 seat 
equals 2 feet of bench length); or where no fixed seating is 
provided, 1 space for each 50 square feet of floor area, 
exclusive of kitchen, restrooms and storage areas; plus spaces 
as required herein for affiliated uses 

Places of worship 1 space for every 3.5 seats in the main assembly room (1 seat 
equals 2 feet of bench length) 

Plumbing, heating, and air-conditioning 
equipment sales or service 

1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area devoted to 
sales area; plus 1 space for each vehicle customarily used in 
the operation of the use or stored on the premises 
 

Residential uses (see Dwelling) 

Restaurants, bars, and taverns 1 space for each 75 square feet of gross floor area (GFA) , 
exclusive of kitchen, restrooms and storage areas 

L - 1 - 11



DRAFT

Restaurants, providing drive-through 
service only 

8 5 stacking spaces for each service window; plus 2 spaces for 
each customer service window 

Restaurants, providing carry-out service 
only 1 space for each 200 square feet of floor area 

Retail stores, retail specialty shops, 
grocery, and commercial retail service 
establishments not elsewhere specified 
in this Section 

1 space for each 200 250 square feet of floor area; for retail 
uses greater than 10,000 square feet – 1 space for each 350 
square feet of floor area 

Schools, elementary, junior high, and 
middle schools (public or private) 

1 space for every 20 students based on building design 
capacity 

Schools, high schools 
1 space for every 7 students based on building design 
capacity 

Schools, business, professional, or 
technical schools 

1 space for every 3 students based on program capacity 

Senior living facilities 0.75 spaces per dwelling unit 

Sororities (see Fraternities or sororities) 

Sports and recreational facilities:  

Bowling alleys 
5 spaces for each bowling lane; plus spaces otherwise 
required for any additional uses such as restaurants, bars, 
and indoor amusement centers 

Gymnasiums without spectator seating 
1 space for each 100 square feet of floor area (not applicable 
to gymnasiums associated with schools); plus spaces 
otherwise required for spectator seating 

Ice and roller skating rinks 
1 space for each 100 square feet of skating area; plus spaces 
otherwise required for spectator seating 

Racquet sport courts, including 
handball, racquetball, squash, and 
tennis courts 

3 spaces for each court; plus spaces otherwise required for 
spectator seating 

Recreation centers, general purpose 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area 

Swimming pools 
1 space for each 75 square feet of pool area, including patio 
areas; plus spaces otherwise required for spectator seating 

Vehicle repair or service facilities 
4 spaces for each service/repair bay or station; plus 1 space 
for each vehicle customarily used in the operation of the use 
or stored on the premises 

L - 1 - 12



DRAFT
 

400.2145. Off-Street Bicycle Parking Requirements.  
 

A. Schedule of Off-Street Bicycle Parking Requirements. Bicycle racks shall be provided in 
accordance with the following tables. When calculating the minimum number of bicycle racks 
required results in a fractional number, a fraction more than one half (½) shall be rounded to 
the next highest whole number: 

 
1. Residential 

 
Number of Dwelling Units Required Number of Minimum Bicycle Parking Racks 

Eight (8) units or less 0 
More than eight (8) units One (1) per four (4) dwelling units 
 

2. Non-Residential 
 

Number of Vehicle Parking Spaces 
Required Per Article VII Required Number of Minimum Bicycle Parking Racks 

Ten (10) spaces or less 0 
More than ten (10) spaces One (1) per five (5) parking spaces 
 

3. Industrial and Hotel/Motel 
 

Number of Vehicle Parking Spaces 
Required Per Article VII Required Number of Minimum Bicycle Parking Racks 

Ten (10) spaces or less 0 
More than ten (10) spaces One (1) per ten (10) parking spaces 
 

 
B. Bicycle Rack Construction Requirements.  

 
1. Bicycle racks shall be made of steel tubing one (1) inch to four (4) inches thick, 
containing two (2) locking points between one (1) feet and three (3) feet off the ground 
and a gap near the bottom for pedal clearance, enabling one to lock a bicycle frame and 
one of the wheels with a standard U-Lock.  

 
2. A bicycle rack must be able to accommodate two (2) bicycles in an upright position. 
Bicycle racks that support the wheel but not the frame of the bike shall not be used to 
fulfill a bicycle parking requirement.  

 

Warehousing, self-service storage 
5 spaces for the first 5,000 square feet of storage area; plus 1 
space for each additional 5,000 square feet of storage area 

Wholesale establishments (see Manufacturing, warehousing and wholesale uses) 

L - 1 - 13



DRAFT

3. All creative design racks shall be capable of securing two (2) standard bicycles. The 
creative design rack shall provide a minimum of two points of contact with the bicycle. 
The design of a creative rack, including the installation details, shall be reviewed and 
approved by the Building Commissioner.  

 
4. All bicycle racks shall be securely anchored to the ground or building structure.  

 
C. Bicycle Rack Site Requirements.  
 

1. Bicycle racks installed pursuant to and required under this section shall be installed 
on private property. Bicycle racks installed in public streets or alleys require separate 
approval from the Public Works Department and shall not be used to fulfill a bicycle rack 
site requirement.  

 
2. Bicycle racks shall be at least three (3) feet from any curb, so as not to impede ingress 
and egress to and from parked vehicles.  

 
3. Bicycle racks shall be at least two (2) feet from the nearest building. Bicycle racks, 
including attached bikes, shall allow at least five (5) feet of American Disabilities Act 
compliant clearance on one or both sides of the rack.  

 
4. Bicycle racks shall be at least two (2) feet from other objects, including but not limited 
to utility vaults, fire hydrants, and street lights.  

 
5. Bicycle racks shall be at least five (5) feet from curb cuts and accessibility ramps.  

 
6. Bicycle racks, including attached bicycle, shall maintain a minimum four (4) feet of 
unobstructed walkway for pedestrian traffic at all times.  

 
7. Bicycle racks shall not be located directly in front of an exit or entrance of a building.  

 
8. Bicycle racks shall be located in well-lighted, highly visible areas to minimize theft and 
vandalism.  

 
9. Bicycle racks shall be located no further from the building than the nearest 
automobile spaces, other than those spaces for persons with disabilities.  

 
10. Safe and convenient means of ingress and egress to bicycle parking facilities shall be 
provided.  

 
11. Bicycle racks, including attached bikes, shall not interfere with accessible paths of 
travel or accessible parking as required by the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as 
amended.  

 
12. When a bicycle rack is installed adjacent to another bicycle rack it shall be oriented 
to maximize the use of both.   

 

L - 1 - 14



DRAFT

13. Bicycle parking spaces adjacent to automobile parking shall be located so as to 
protect bicycles from damage.  

 
14. In cases where bicycle parking spaces are not visible from the primary street, 
signage shall be used to direct cyclists safely to the bicycle parking spaces.  

 
15. In parking lots and parking garages, physical barriers, such as posts or bollards, shall 
be provided so as to prevent a motor vehicle from striking a parked bicycle.  

 
 

Section 2.    This ordinance shall not be construed to so as to relieve any person, firm or 
corporation from any penalty heretofore incurred by the violation of said Sections mentioned 
above, nor bar the prosecution for any such violation. 
 

Section 3.  Any person, firm or corporation violating any of the provisions of this 
ordinance, shall upon conviction thereof, be subject to the penalty provided in Title 1 Chapter 
1.12.010 of the Municipal Code of the City of University City. 
 

Section 4.   This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 
 
 
 
PASSED this ________ day of ________________, ________. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
         MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
 CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
 CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 

L - 1 - 15



L - 1 - 16



Council Agenda Item Cover 

MEETING DATE:  April 8, 2019 

AGENDA ITEM TITLE: 300 Block of Williams Avenue – Residential Permit Parking 

Area AGENDA SECTION:   Unfinished Business 

CAN THIS ITEM BE RESCHEDULED?:    Yes 

BACKGROUND REVIEW:     
The Traffic Commission reviewed a petition to create a Residential Permit Parking Area in the 300 
Block of Williams Avenue, between Pershing Ave and Forest Park Parkway. 

According to the Municipal Code Section 355.030 Residential Parking Permit Plan, parking on 
public streets within residential neighborhoods may be restricted to the residents along not more 
than three (3) blocks of a street if the street is within two (2) blocks of Washington University or 
another municipality's boundary and if the problems caused by non-resident parking on the block 
are chronic and well documented. 

The petition submitted by property owners at 7100 Pershing Avenue documents the parking 
problems on both sides of the 300 block of Williams Ave, and requests to restrict parking for 
residents on the both sides of the block. 

The signatures in the petition exceeded the minimum requirement. The petition was signed by 
100% of the affected households.  Restricted hours are not to exceed twelve (12) hours daily. 
Proposed hours are from 8 am to 8 pm, Monday through Friday. 

The Traffic Commission reviewed this request at their December 12, 2018 meeting and 
recommended approval of this petition to alleviate a reoccurring parking problem existing in this 
residential arterial road within University City by the City Council.  

RECOMMENDATION:  City Manager recommends that the City Council approve the request 
based on the parking issues documented and submitted to the City through the petition attached, 
and complies with the requirements outlined on the University City Municipal Code section 355.030; 
thus amending the Traffic Code Schedule III-D Residential Permit Parking Areas to add both sides 
of Kingsbury Boulevard., between Big Bend Blvd and Williams Ave. 

Attachments: 
- Bill amending Schedule III-D Residential Permit Parking Areas
- Staff Report
- Petition submitted affected property owners of the  7100 block of Pershing Avenue

Boulevard

L - 2 - 1



INTRODUCED BY: Councilmember Steve McMahon DATE: March 25, 2019

BILL NO:  9384 ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SCHEDULE III OF THE TRAFFIC CODE, 
TO REVISE TRAFFIC REGULATION AS PROVIDED HEREIN. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY 
CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Schedule III of the Traffic Code, of the University City Municipal Code is amended 
as provided herein. Language to be added to the Code is represented as highlighted. This 
Ordinance contemplates no revisions to the Code other than those so designated; any 
language or provisions from the Code omitted from this Ordinance is represented by an 
ellipsis and remains in full force and effect.  

Section 2. Schedule III of the University City Municipal Code is hereby amended to add both 
sides of Williams Avenue from Pershing Avenue to Forest Park Parkway where the City has 
designated as a Residential Permit Parking Area, to be edited to the Traffic Code as the 
“Schedule” – Schedule III, as follows: 

Traffic Schedules 

Schedule III: Parking Restrictions 

Table III-D Residential Permit Parking Areas 

The following areas are “Residential Permit Parking Areas” and are regulated as set forth in 
section 355.030 of this Code:  

Street Block Scope 
Williams 300 Both Sides 

* * *
Section 3. This ordinance shall not be construed so as to relieve any person, firm or 
corporation from any penalty heretofore incurred by the violation of the sections revised by 
this amendment nor bar the prosecution for any such violation. 

Section 4. Any person, firm or corporation violating any of the provisions of this ordinance 
shall be punished in accordance with the provisions of the University City Municipal Code. 

Section 5.  This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 

L - 2 - 2

http://ecode360.com/28296920#28301955


PASSED THIS________day of____________2019 
 
 

___________________________________  
    MAYOR 

 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
 CITY CLERK 
 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
 CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 

L - 2 - 3



 
 
  
   Department of Public Works and Parks 
   6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 505-8560, Fax: (314) 862-0694   

www.ucitymo.org                                                    1 
 

 
STAFF REPORT  

MEETING DATE: December 12, 2018 
APPLICANT:  Greg and Rebekah Murphy – 7100 Pershing  
Location:  Williams Ave - Between Pershing and Forest FPPW    
Request:  Residential Parking Permit request   
Attachments:  Traffic Request Form 
 
 
Existing Conditions: 

Williams Avenue  

 
 
Williams Avenue between Pershing Avenue and FPPW has no parking restrictions. Both 
sides are available for parking. 
 
The street is within two blocks of Washington University or another municipality's boundary 
and the problems caused by nonresident parking* on the block are chronic and well-
documented.  
 
The street is within one (1) block from both a municipal boundary and Washington 
University, thus is eligible for a Residential Parking Permit system. 
 
Request: 
Implement a Residential Parking Permit System on Williams Avenue between Pershing  
and FPPW  on both sides of the street. 
 
 
Conclusion/Recommendation: 
 
It is recommended that the Traffic Commission determines the list of affected households 
for a petition to implement the residential parking permit system.  

Requested 
Residential 

Parking permit 
area 

Requestors 
Home 

L - 2 - 4



RESIDENTIAL PARKING PERMIT PETITION

TO: UNIVERSITY CITY- TRAFFIC COMMISSION

PROBLEMS CAUSED BY NON-RESIDENT PARKING (PROBLEMS SHOULD BE CHRONIC AND 
WELL DOCUMENTED). USE ADDITIONAL PAGE IF NECESSARY

Since the beginning of the academic year at Washington University, students and employees have begun 
parking on Williams Avenue between Forest Park Parkway and Pershing Ave. They leave trash in the street 
and alley along Forest Park Parkway, where they walk to the Washington University campus. The property 
owners would like to protect the values of their homes

SPECIFIC AREA REQUESTED TO BE RESTRICTED:

All of Williams Ave. from Forest Park Parkway to Pershing Ave.

REQUESTED RESTRICTED TIME PERIOD (SHALL NOT EXCEED 9 HOURS DAILY):

10:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.

NOTE:
THIS PETITION SHOULD BE SIGNED BY AT LEAST SEVENTY-FIVE (75%) PERCENT OF THE 
PROPERTY OWNERS ADJACENT TO THE BLOCK OF THE PUBLIC STREET INVOLVED.

The Public Works Department staff will review this petition and, if warranted, this matter will appear as an 
agenda item for a traffic commission meeting. If a meeting is held, you will be encouraged to attend so that 
you may state your concerns.

NAME: Greg & Rebekah Murphy

ADDRESS: 7100 Pershing Ave., University City, MO 63130

PHONE (HOME): 314-705-7456 PHONE (WORK): 314-854-8689

Please return completed to Angelica Gutierrez, Secretaiy of the Traffic Commission, at the Public Works 
Department, 3rd floor of the City Hall, located at 6801 Delmar Blvd, University City, MO 63130. Phone: 
(314) 862-6767, ext. 8568 Fax: (314) 862-0694

L - 2 - 5



PETITION FOR RESIDENTIAL PARKING PERMIT 
Blocks: One Block between Forest Park Parkway and 
Pershing Ave.
Name of Street: Williams
Hours restricted: 9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m.

L - 2 - 6


	Blank Page
	CA - ESC Westgate Ave.pdf
	Attach. - ESC - CMT UNSIGNED.pdf
	SPONSOR: University City, Missouri
	SPONSOR: University City, Missouri
	LOCATION:  Westgate Avenue between Delmar Blvd. and Olive Blvd.
	LOCATION:  Westgate Avenue between Delmar Blvd. and Olive Blvd.
	PROJECT: Westgate Avenue Improvements – STP-5402(616)
	PROJECT: Westgate Avenue Improvements – STP-5402(616)
	ARTICLE I – SCOPE OF SERVICES
	ARTICLE I – SCOPE OF SERVICES
	ARTICLE III-ADDITIONAL SERVICES
	ARTICLE III-ADDITIONAL SERVICES
	ARTICLE IV - RESPONSIBILITIES OF LOCAL AGENCY
	ARTICLE IV - RESPONSIBILITIES OF LOCAL AGENCY
	ARTICLE V - PERIOD OF SERVICE
	ARTICLE V - PERIOD OF SERVICE
	ARTICLE VI – STANDARDS
	ARTICLE VI – STANDARDS
	ARTICLE VII - COMPENSATION
	ARTICLE VII - COMPENSATION
	ARTICLE VIII - COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES
	ARTICLE VIII - COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES
	ARTICLE IX - SUBLETTING, ASSIGNMENT OR TRANSFER
	ARTICLE IX - SUBLETTING, ASSIGNMENT OR TRANSFER
	ARTICLE X - PROFESSIONAL ENDORSEMENT
	ARTICLE X - PROFESSIONAL ENDORSEMENT
	ARTICLE XI - RETENTION OF RECORDS
	ARTICLE XI - RETENTION OF RECORDS
	ARTICLE XII - OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS
	ARTICLE XII - OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS
	ARTICLE XIII – SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT
	ARTICLE XIII – SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT
	ARTICLE XIV - DECISIONS UNDER THIS CONTRACT
	ARTICLE XIV - DECISIONS UNDER THIS CONTRACT
	ARTICLE XV - SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS
	ARTICLE XV - SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS
	The Local Agency and the Engineer agree that this contract and all contracts entered into under the provisions of this contract shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their successors and assigns.
	The Local Agency and the Engineer agree that this contract and all contracts entered into under the provisions of this contract shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their successors and assigns.
	ARTICLE XVI - COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
	ARTICLE XVI - COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
	ARTICLE XVII - RESPONSIBILITY FOR CLAIMS AND LIABILITY
	ARTICLE XVII - RESPONSIBILITY FOR CLAIMS AND LIABILITY
	ARTICLE XVIII - NONDISCRIMINATION
	ARTICLE XVIII - NONDISCRIMINATION
	ARTICLE XXI - ATTACHMENTS
	ARTICLE XXI - ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A – Scope of Service
	Attachment A – Scope of Service
	Attachment B - Estimate of Cost
	Attachment B - Estimate of Cost
	Attachment C - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other
	Attachment C - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other
	Attachment D - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions.
	Attachment D - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions.
	Attachment E – DBE Contract Provisions
	Attachment E – DBE Contract Provisions
	Attachment F – Fig. 136.4.15 Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form
	Attachment F – Fig. 136.4.15 Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form
	Executed by the Engineer this _____ day of _______________, 2019.
	Executed by the Engineer this _____ day of _______________, 2019.
	Executed by the City  this __ day of ______________, 2019.
	Executed by the City  this __ day of ______________, 2019.
	FOR: UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI
	FOR: UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI
	BY: ___________________________________________________
	BY: ___________________________________________________
	Gregory Rose, City Manager
	Gregory Rose, City Manager
	ATTEST: __________________________
	ATTEST: __________________________
	LaRette Reese, City Clerk
	LaRette Reese, City Clerk
	FOR: CRAWFORD, MURPHY & TILLY, INC.
	FOR: CRAWFORD, MURPHY & TILLY, INC.
	BY:  _________________________________________________
	BY:  _________________________________________________
	Dan Meckes
	Dan Meckes
	President
	President
	ATTEST: __________________________
	ATTEST: __________________________
	CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT,
	CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT,
	INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION
	INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION
	1. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its principals:
	1. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its principals:
	2. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal.
	2. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal.
	ATTACHMENT D
	ATTACHMENT D
	INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION
	INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION
	Attachment E
	Attachment E


	J3 - GRG Ackert Walkway Signage and Maintanance Agreement.pdf
	GRG Ackert Signange - Exhibit B.pdf
	Ackert Walkway Signage Plan.pdf
	2018-10-23 PRELIMINARY PLANS - GRG SIGNS.pdf

	Ackert Sign Array.pdf


	Blank Page
	J4 - Solid Waste Division MRF Grant.pdf
	Blank Page

	L1 - Parking Amendment March 25CC Cover Letter.pdf
	Blank Page

	L2 - Bill 9384 - 300 block Williams Ave.pdf
	Bill 9384 - to Amend 300 Williams.pdf
	Traffic Schedules
	Schedule III: Parking Restrictions
	Table III-D Residential Permit Parking Areas





